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SIMPLIFIED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Growth

Care

Passion

Quality

Expansion

Consistency

T H E  VA L U E  
P R O P O S I T I O N  S T O R Y
O F  P P B  G R O U P
is about how PPB Group’s heritage of 

values and culture translate to growth, 

consistency and care. 

The enduring passion of everyone within 

the Group has helped build a strong 

customer base and supportive 

stakeholders. Today, we are equally proud 

and humbled to tell the story of PPB 

Group’s value proposition.



OUR PRODUCTS, 
OUR VALUE PROPOSITION. 
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of PPB Group Berhad, it gives me great 
pleasure to present the Annual Report and audited financial statements of 
the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013.

GROUP RESULTS

I am pleased to report that the Group delivered a strong set of results against a challenging and 
uncertain economic environment. 

PPB Group recorded an increase in revenue of 10% to RM3.313 billion for 2013 with higher contribution 

All figures in RM million 2013 2012 % Change

Revenue 10

Earnings per share (sen) 71 17

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

 Serian Water Treatment
Plant in Sarawak
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

million and debt-to-equity ratio of 3%.

capitalise on investment opportunities to 
further enhance shareholder value.

DIVIDENDS

single tier dividend of 17 sen per share 
and combined with the interim single tier 

ended 31 December 2013 to 25 sen per 

shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 



OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS

FOOD MANUFACTURING ACTIVITIES

Flour and Feed Milling, and Grains Trading

the Group recorded an 11% improvement in revenue to 

higher by 2% due to lower margins resulting from higher raw 

movements.

to increasing revenue and earnings contribution from this 
division.

this year which will increase its production capacity in 

the near future.

Bakery

grown to be widely accepted by consumers in the country 

line commenced installation in 2013 which will be ready for 
production in the second half of this year. 

installed and a new range of Massimo products will be 
introduced in the second quarter of this year to complement 

Frozen Foods

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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 Packing of Duetto buns at The Italian Baker in Pulau Indah



Marketing, Distribution And Manufacturing
Of Consumer Products 

attributable to improved sales of agency products with 

powder and table spreads.

Livestock Farming

Upgrading of the ventilation system in poultry houses 
helped increase egg production and recovery from diseases 

planning for broiler integration to further enhance the 
synergy of Group operations.

Environmental Engineering, Waste 
Management And Utilities

were at completion stages and revenue was recognised earlier. 

the country’s population growth. 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Film Exhibition And Distribution

from titles distributed. 

operates 233 screens in 27 locations.

to 100 new screens in the country at a budgeted cost of 
RM150 million. 

was introduced in selected cinemas to allow movie-goers 
the convenience of buying their concessions simultaneously 

cinema business overseas which will provide us with the 

 Galaxy Nguyen Trai

 Galaxy Tan Binh



Property Investment And Development

value of over RM1 billion.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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 Masera Bukit Segar Showhouse

 Cheras LeisureMall, Kuala Lumpur



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

but also on its ability to balance economic returns with 
positive and sustainable contributions to society and the 
environment. We will pursue this by applying our core 

Report. 

 

PROSPECTS AND CHALLENGES
FOR 2014

environment to register modest growth in view of gradual 

growth driven by the ongoing implementation of multi-

growth is anticipated in public investment supported 
by Government and public enterprise capital spending.  
Private consumption will be underpinned by healthy labour 

[Source : Bank Negara Malaysia Annual Report 2013]

prudent management of investments to ensure the ongoing 

proven operational strategies have enabled us to deliver 
sustainable results and drive the Group’s growth and future 
development.

invest in building new capacity and capability to grow its 
core businesses both domestically and regionally especially 

With the Group’s strong presence in its core businesses 

by Wilmar’s performance for the year. 

 “Back to School” Project

014 PPB Group Berhad   ANNUAL REPORT 2013



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

DIRECTORATE

APPRECIATION

unwavering support through the years. 

have contributed to the continued success of the Group.

 

Datuk Oh Siew Nam
Chairman

 The Italian Baker’s baking plant
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2013
RM Million 

2012 
RM Million

%
Change

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue 3,312.917 

1,063.417

990.939

982.573

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 15,653.280

16,191.897 

RATIOS

Return on equity attributable to 
  owners of the parent

% 6.28

Earnings per share sen 82.88

Interest coverage times 78.95

times 3.15 

% 2.59 2.53 

% 0.55 

Net assets per share attributable to 
  owners of the parent

RM 13.20

sen 18.97

PE ratio times 19.47

Net dividend per share sen 25.00 20.00 

31 December closing price RM 16.14 

GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS



72.49%

8.49%

1.49%

6.74%

2.67%

3.22%

4.09%

0.48%
0.33%

74.00%

8.24%

1.39%

5.65%

2.77%

3.15%

4.02%

0.44%
0.34%

2012

2013
91.73%

3.16%

1.06%
1.93%
1.12%

0.47%

0.53%

2013

91.60%

3.17%

1.03%
1.85%
1.34%

0.46%

0.55%

2012
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SIMPLIFIED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CURRENT  
ASSETS

and other intangible assets

deposits and short-term fund 
placements

Other current assets

NON-CURRENT  
ASSETS

and other intangible assets

Goodwill 

Other non-current assets

NON-CURRENT 
LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Long-term borrowings

Equity attributable to owners 
of the parent

Other non-current liabilities

Non-controlling interests 

CURRENT  
LIABILITIES 

Other current liabilities

ASSETS EQUITY & LIABILITIES
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MR LIM SOON HUAT, 49
Managing Director

Date of Appointment

sugar milling operation.
 
 

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

DATUK OH SIEW NAM, 75

Date of Appointment

Zealand.

1 2

12 36 4 5
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3 4 5

MR SOH CHIN TECK, 56

Date of Appointment

 
 

held various senior positions in 

 

Insulation Manufacturers Group.

Nil

DATUK ONG HUNG HOCK, 

Date of Appointment

 
of Malaya.

 

 
 
 

DATO’ CAPT AHMAD SUFIAN 
@ QURNAIN BIN ABDUL 
RASHID, 64

Date of Appointment

Institute of Management.

Program at Harvard University.

international maritime industry.

60
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILES



6 7

2. None of the Directors has any 
family relationship with any other 

3.  None of the Directors had any 
convictions for any offences other 

ten years.

MADAM TAM CHIEW LIN, 63

Date of Appointment

Management.

Bangor.

 

Director in 2000. 

group of companies from 2005 until 
her retirement at end-2012.

(Not in group photo)

ENCIK AHMAD RIZA BIN 
BASIR, 53

Date of Appointment

 

Plantations Berhad since 2000.

United Plantations Berhad

021The Corporation

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES
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100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

25%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

79.9%

75%

51%

51% 

43.4%

 

80%

GROUP CORPORATE STRUCTURE
as at 31 March 2014

100%

60%

100%

Continued to Next Page
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dormant and inactive companies. 

Percentages shown indicate the Group’s direct equity interest held. 

Property investment & development 
     

  
Investments in equities

Others

100%

70%

100%

100%

34%

40%

100%

100%

100%

18.3%

100%

100%

51%

99.6%

70%

 

 

 
 

80%

70% 

70% 

40%

55%

GROUP CORPORATE STRUCTURE

 
 

manufacturing of consumer products

 
management & utilities 

Continued from Previous Page
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 

Chairman

 
Managing Director

 
Independent Non-executive Director

 
Independent Non-executive Director

 
Independent Non-executive Director

 
Non-independent Non-executive Director

 
Non-independent Non-executive Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE
 

 
Chairman

 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
 

Chairman

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
 

Chairman

COMPANY SECRETARY
 
Mr 

REGISTERED OFFICE

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

AUDITORS

REGISTRARS

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING



PPB’S CORPORATE EVENTS AND  
INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES
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14 MAY 2013

the year ended 31 December 2012 and approve other 

31 MAY 2013
Release of e-Investor Update for the 1st

31 March 2013.

27 AUGUST 2013

2013 and other matters.

4 SEPTEMBER 2013
Release of e-Investor Update for the 2nd

11 OCTOBER 2013

9 DECEMBER 2013
Release of e-Investor Update for the 3rd

7 MARCH 2013

and other matters.

14 MARCH 2013
th

31 December 2012.

22 APRIL 2013
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
Financial Year From 1 January 2013 To 31 December 2013

RESULTS

1st 17 May 13

2nd

3rd 25 Nov 13

th

DIVIDENDS

Declared on 

Entitlement Date on

Paid on

Entitlement Date on

Payable on
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SHAREHOLDERS

MANAGEMENT  
OF MAIN BUSINESS 

OPERATIONS

NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

RISK ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

GROUP INTERNAL 
AUDIT

FLOUR, ANIMAL FEED, 
FOOD PROCESSING, 

LIVESTOCK FARMING, 
BAKERY & PACKAGING

ENVIRONMENTAL 
& PROCESS 

ENGINEERING, WASTE 
MANAGEMENT,  

CHEMICALS TRADING 
& MANUFACTURING 

FILM EXHIBITION & 
DISTRIBUTION

PROPERTY 
INVESTMENT, 

DEVELOPMENT & 
MANAGEMENT

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES

 shareholders.

independent views to safeguard the interest of minority shareholders.

BOARD CHARTER

BOARD COMPOSITION

whom three are independent.

in the best overall interests of shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

for re-election at least once every three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Responsibilities

Responsibilities
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



Responsibilities

BOARD MEETINGS

between scheduled meetings.

 
 

100

100

100

100

100

2 100

2 100

1 100

SUPPLY OF INFORMATION
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



in the Board’s hands.

STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION

responsibilities effectively.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

20

Meeting allowance 1 21

Bonus

320 113
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



- 3

- 2

1 -

- 1

1 -

Note : Successive bands of RM50,000 are not shown in entirety as they are not represented.

REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE

 

 

 
 
 

 

the Board to whom concerns of the Group may be conveyed.
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST

 

FOSTER COMMITMENT

COMMITMENT BY THE BOARD

 

of PPB comply with the limits on directorships in other listed companies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

 
businesses and meetings with senior management to facilitate their understanding of the Group’s businesses and operations. 

UPHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

FINANCIAL REPORTING

auditing process.

RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISKS

INTERNAL CONTROL

the Group’s assets.

ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



 

INSIDER TRADING

 
price-sensitive information which has not been publicly disclosed in accordance with the MMLR and the relevant regulatory 

management deemed to be privy to price-sensitive information.

STRENGTHEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS

 
 

INVESTOR RELATIONS PROGRAMME

 

 
dissemination of information.

 
 

quarter under review.

reference guide.

 
company website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



 

Group’s businesses.

community.

  1.   
    Senior Independent Non-executive Director

  2. 
 Senior Manager (Corporate Affairs)

Chairman   Independent Non-executive Director
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



Member

Member

Member
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT



 

2 2

1 1
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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Property development

Property development

Property investment

operations.

Audit Committee Chairman
(Independent Non-executive Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets.

for its adequacy and effectiveness and reported accordingly to the Board.

operational policies and procedures and rules relating to the delegation and segregation of duties.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND  
INTERNAL CONTROL
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operational performance indicators are continuously monitored and reported to the Board.

 
 

and internal control system of the Group.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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Corporate responsibility has always been part of PPB Group’s values, 
guiding us in decision-making and operations. It is important for  
us to achieve business success in ways that honour our ethical principles  
and demonstrate respect for people and the planet. In today’s 
competitive business environment, our efforts have evolved and taken on  
a progressively strategic approach, and it helps us manage and create 
worth for the Company. 

support it through various initiatives. Our history of continuous improvement in our operations through new technology 

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT



ENVIRONMENT

 
   sound practices

 
 

PPB Group recognises that as a socially responsible corporate 

quality products and services in a manner that best ensures 
the environmental integrity of our processes and facilities. 

operations.  We understand the importance of conserving natural resources and 

RECYCLE, REDUCE AND REUSE

encouraging the 3Rs. Employees have developed a culture 

plastic materials as well as adopting a paperless system for 
selected processes.

of recyclable items from the staff for Beautiful Gates 

income from the sale of recyclable items.

ENERGY CONSERVATION

Energy-saving lightings and equipment are used in the 

ELECTRONIC PUBLICATIONS

distribution of its quarterly Investor Updates in hard copy 

encouraged to view the quarterly publication from PPB’s 
website.

042 PPB Group Berhad   ANNUAL REPORT 2013

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT



NO STYROFOAM/PLASTIC BAG DAY

avoid using both products and bring their own bags and 

GOING TICKETLESS

the 2D barcode on their smartphone screens at selected 

iPhone

043The Corporation

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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WORKPLACE
We help create sustainable economic growth by building human and institutional 

career development and promotion from within wherever possible.

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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NO HARRASSMENT

characteristic protected by law.  PPB does not tolerate 

employees or contractors by management staff or other 
employee.

PPB HEALTH AND FITNESS PROGRAMME

employees together for a common interest whilst promoting 

BENEFITS

professional and personal development of staff through 

living and the Group also encourages more interaction 
amongst employees with company activities such as movie 

SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACE

or other locations inside the buildings where the PPB Group 

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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We believe that it is our duty to contribute and engage with the communities in 

we hope to develop relationships with and enhance the quality of life of these 
communities.

We see employee volunteerism gaining strength but regard this as an area in which 
we can improve going forward.

COMMUNITY

PPB-KF WELFARE FUND FOR PERLIS

were given to deserving secondary school students in the 

of facilities.

FESTIVAL CELEBRATIONS

underprivileged groups by organising lunches and trips to 

are not forgotten during such festivals.

various main festivals. PPB donated products manufactured 

some of their wishes.

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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“BACK TO SCHOOL” PROJECT

OPENING OF SILENT TEDDIES CAFE

“HELPING THE POOR TO HELP      
  THEMSELVES” PROJECT

and caregivers to disabled dependents to support their 
families.

VOLUNTEERING AT THE SPCA

utensils and bathe the dogs.

EAGLE CUP XIII JUDO CHAMPIONSHIP

PPB has been the venue sponsor of this event for more than 

more than 100 participants from the local and international 

the sport to the community at large and enable young 

GSC-HOPE WORLDWIDE MALAYSIA    
CHARITY DONATION DRIVE 2013

MOVIE SCREENING FOR 
UNDERPRIVILEGED CHILDREN

children from social welfare homes and community support 

AWARENESS OF ARTS AND CULTURE 
THROUGH FILM FESTIVALS

arts and cultures of other countries.

SENIOR CITIZENS, WE APPRECIATE YOU

active and varied lifestyle.

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT



We are committed to pursue and practise corporate sustainability 
by ensuring that our operations and practices are managed 

environments.

MARKETPLACE

KEEPING STAKEHOLDERS INFORMED

to have a better understanding and assessment of the future 
and direction of the Group. PPB’s company website provides 

QUALITY PRODUCTS

PPB Group continually improves the quality of its food 
products through product innovation and ensures that its 
products meet all applicable food regulations and standards.  
Its food products are properly labelled for better awareness 
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CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT



CUSTOMER SERVICE

to provide disabled-friendly facilities in all new cinemas 
including hydraulic lifts and easily accessible space in the 
halls for customers in wheelchairs. 

MEMBERSHIP IN ASSOCIATIONS

PPB Group operations are actively involved in associations 

PPB Group’s businesses are involved to address industry-

049The Corporation

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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1. NON-AUDIT FEES

Non-statutory audit services

2. SANCTIONS AND/OR PENALTIES

3. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
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4. RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE (“RRPT”)

or its subsidiaries
Year 2013 Nature of relationship 

RM’000

Purchase of cooking oil, soyabean, doughfat, crude 
palm oil and soyabean meal from PGSB Group

Sale of polypropylene woven bags and flexible 
intermediate bulk containers to PGSB Group

Rental of land and buildings and provision of related 
services (viz canteen rental, elevation services and 
security services) to/from PGEO

PGEO Edible Oils PGEO is a wholly-owned 

Purchase of crude palm oil from Sapi

subsidiary of PPB 

person connected to 

Charter hire of vessels from RSI

International Pte subsidiary of Wilmar 
International Limited 

Sale of flour and pollard to Wilmar Group

Wilmar Group Wilmar is a person 

Purchase of soyabean meal from Wilmar Trading 
(China) Pte Ltd (“WTC”) and payment of advisory fee

Wilmar Group
100%-owned subsidiary 
of Wilmar.

 

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
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5-YEAR GROUP FINANCIAL STATISTICS

Year Ended 31 December 2009 2010 2011  2012  2013

Revenue RM Million  3,312.917 

  losses of associates
RM Million  772.053  785.662 

RM Million  1,063.417 

RM Million 990.939

Net dividend for the year RM Million 237.100  296.375 

Issued share capital RM Million  1,185.500 

Equity attributable to  
  owners of the parent

RM Million  15,653.280 

RM Million  17,065.430 

Earnings per share Sen  82.88 

FTSE Bursa KLCI Quotes

Year high RM  16.20 

Year low RM  11.66 

Year close RM  16.14 

No. of shareholders  10,242 
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5-YEAR GROUP FINANCIAL STATISTICS

3.3 RM Billion

REVENUE

EARNINGS PER SHARE NET ASSETS PER SHARE 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 

OF THE PARENT

OPERATING CASH FLOW 
PER SHARE
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1,063.4 RM Million

1,732.5

1,129.2
1,056.6

916.8

1,063.4

09 13121110
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

15.7 RM Billion

09 13121110
0

5

10

15

20

14.1
13.3

14.1 14.3

15.7

09 13121110

82.9 Sen

09 13121110

71.0

136.3

159.0

82.7 82.9

09 13121110

13.2 RM

11.9
11.2

11.9 12.0

13.2

0

3

6

9

12

15

19.0 Sen

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

0

50

100

150

200



3.313 RM Billion

0
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40

50

60 59.30%

11.67%
9.89%

2.89%
3.36%

2.59%
2.83%

0.68%

6.79%

278.0 RM Million

-10

0

10

20

30

40

50
44.65%

8.55%

17.72%

2.38%
0.58%

12.30%

-2.69%

13.93%

2.58%

35.00%

5.88%

0.81%

4.77%

3.57%

14.32%

23.66%

11.99%

48.20%

21.99%
1.25%

1.60%
0.42%

2.92%

21.56%

2.06%

41.65%

11.11%

18.60%

3.21%

8.30%

1.56%

1.92%

7.26%

6.39%
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SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

ASSETS

3.551 
RM Billion

REVENUE

PROFITS

LIABILITIES

356.1 
RM Million

CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURE

223.7 
RM Million

Property investment & development

Investments in equities

Other operations
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SHARE PERFORMANCE

for the Malaysian economy. 

cautious sentiments following the uncertainty on the 

investors to reduce their holdings of equities in emerging 

sector due to the recovery in demand for electrical and 

[Source: Bank Negara Malaysia, Annual Report 2013]

PPB’s share price closed higher 2013
RM

2012
RM %

Year High

Year Low

13.752 billion

INFORMATION ON FTSE BURSA MALAYSIA KUALA LUMPUR COMPOSITE INDEX (FBM KLCI) AND 
PPB’S SHARE PRICE
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PPB SHARE PRICE AND VOLUME TRADED FOR YEAR 2013

FBM KLCI AND VOLUME TRADED FOR YEAR 2013

Volume (last traded)

510
480
450
420
390
360
330
300
270
240
210
180
150
120
90
60
30

PPB Close (last traded)



GROUP CASH FLOWS

GROUP BANK BORROWINGS

denominated.

GROUP CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
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are fair and reasonable. 

the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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th the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 

d investment holding during the financial year. 

l year were flour and animal fe
ing of consumer products

 investment and developmen

re of these activities during the financial year. 

   

Profit for the year 
   

   
Owners of the parent 

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012 as disclosed in the Directors’ 

 17 sen per share in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2013 for shareholders’ approval at th

the total dividends paid and proposed for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2013 would be 25 sen per share. 

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 70 and 71. 

ures during the financial year. 
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(Chairman) 
(Managing Director) 

(Appointed on 25 July 2013) 
(Appointed on 25 July 2013) 
(Retired on 14 May 2013) 

fers himself for re-election as a Director. 

Directors. 

rests of Directors who held office at the end of the financial 

              No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each 
              registered in the name of Directors 

Date of appointment  31.12.13

              No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each 
                  in which the Directors are deemed to have interest 

Date of appointment 31.12.13

              No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each 
             in which the Director is deemed to have interest 
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                       No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each 
                       registered in the name of Directors 

                       No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each 
                        in which the Director is deemed to have interest 

                      No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each 
                      in which the Director is deemed to have interest 

1.1.13 31.12.13

December 2013 did not have any interest 
and its related corporations during the financial year. 

nor at any time during the financial ye

 any other body corporate. 

benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the 
lary of a full-time y) by reason of a 

the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a 
ial financial interest required to be disclosed pursuant to 

(i)

(ii) to ensure that any current a ordinary course of business their value as 
shown in the accounting records of the Group and of th down to an amount which 
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 (i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial 

 (ii) the values attributed to current assets in the fina

e of any circumstances which have arisen which would render 

inappropriate. 

(i) y which has arisen since the end of the financial year 

(ii) any contingent liability which has arisen in the Group 

circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the 
would render any amount stated in the respective financial 

statements misleading. 

mpany for the financial year were not substantially affected 

ent of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the 
to affect substantially the results of the operations of the 

(c) no contingent or other liability has 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group and of 

r willingness to continue in office. 

On behalf of the Board 
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2013 2012

Note RM'000

Revenue 3 3,312,917 3,017,926

Cost of sales 4 (2,564,581)

Gross profit 526,459 453,345

Other income 119,990 71,697

Distribution costs (132,683)

Administrative expenses (131,264)

Other expenses (52,482)

Share of net profits less losses of associates 785,662 712,545

Share of profits of joint venture 3,870 4,211

Finance costs 5 (8,555)

Profit before tax 6 1,063,417 916,814

Income tax expense 7 (48,617)

Profit for the year 990,939 868,197

Attributable to: 

Owners of the parent 982,573 842,152

Non-controlling interests 8,366 26,045

990,939 868,197

Basic earnings per share attributable to 

owners of the parent (sen) 8 82.9 71.0

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Profit for the year 990,939            868,197              

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax 

Items that will be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations arising 

 during the year 844,905            (396,768)             

Fair value of available-for-sale financial assets: 

 - Gains arising during the year 53,271              32,039                

 - Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss upon disposal              (67)                     

Share of associates' other comprehensive loss            (19,215)              

Total comprehensive income 1,648,406         484,186              

Attributable to: 

Owners of the parent 1,637,484         463,560              

Non-controlling interests 10,922              20,626                

1,648,406         484,186              

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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2013 2012

Note RM'000

Property, plant and equipment 9 1,195,996         1,095,882           

Investment properties 10 204,090            222,224              

Biological assets 11 2,877                2,760                 

Land held for property development 12 17,176              13,732                

Goodwill 13 74,615              74,615                

Other intangible assets 14 2,696                2,026                 

Investments in associates 16 12,628,152       11,293,797         

Investment in joint venture 17 57,368              51,728                

Other investments 18 660,634            617,709              

Deferred tax assets 19 7,683                5,918                 

14,851,287 13,380,391

Inventories 21 508,493            476,227              

Biological assets 11 17,370              14,268                

Other intangible assets 14 11,957              11,636                

Property development costs 22 23,165              29,338                

Gross amount due from customers 23 20,035              28,715                

Trade receivables 24 473,436            415,278              

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 78,335              108,023              

Amounts due from associates 25 93,880              27,962                

Derivative financial assets 26 5,263                7,195                 

Current tax assets 17,218              21,223                

Deposits 27 498,348            956,651              

Short-term fund placements 28 296,481            -                        

Cash and bank balances 29 170,162            93,433                

2,214,143         2,189,949           

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 30 -                        9,009                 

2,214,143         2,198,958           

17,065,430       15,579,349         
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2013 2012

Note RM'000

Share capital 31 1,185,500         1,185,500           

Share premium 6,715                6,715                 

Other non-distributable reserves 32 209,684            (408,806)             

Retained earnings 14,251,381       13,487,966         

       14,271,375         

            493,996              

16,191,897       14,765,371         

Long-term bank borrowings 33 89,657              85,212                

Hire purchase liabilities 34 41                      12                      

Deferred tax liabilities 35 79,984              70,923                

169,682            156,147              

Gross amount due to customers 23 4,271                15,013                

Trade payables 36 181,887            160,281              

Other payables and accruals 37 166,003            143,470              

Amounts due to associates 25 578                    802                    

Derivative financial liabilities 26 6,348                35,475                

Hire purchase liabilities 34 45                      14                      

Short-term borrowings 38 329,071            288,206              

Bank overdrafts 39 739                    390                    

Current tax liabilities 14,909              14,180                

            657,831              

            813,978              

17,065,430       15,579,349         

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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  Non-distributable 

 Note  

 Other comprehensive income   -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  - 

associate   40  -  -  -  - 

41  -  -  - 

 Dividends paid to shareholders of 
42  -  -  -  - 

 Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests of subsidiaries    -  -  -  - 

43  -  -  -   - 

 Issue of shares to non-controlling 
interests   -  -  -  - 

 Other comprehensive income   -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  - 

associate   40  -  -  - 

41  -  -  - 

 Dividends paid to shareholders of 
42  -  -  -  - 

 Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests of subsidiaries   -  -  -  - 

 Issue of shares to non-controlling 
interests    -  -  -  - 
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Total
 

 - 

 -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  - 

 - 

 -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  - 
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2013 2012
RM'000

 Profit before tax 1,063,417 916,814        

Amortisation and depreciation 108,992 102,795        
Bad and doubtful debts 5,164 212
Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and other 

intangible assets written off 5,436 607
Land held for property development written off -                  195
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -                  1,060            
Impairment of investment property 134             -
Impairment of investment property written back               (44)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment written back             -
Goodwill written off -                  2
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and investment 

properties (831)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss             (227)
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets (66)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -                  (1,040)           
Share of net profits less losses of associates (712,545)       
Share of profits of joint venture (4,211)           
Inventories written down 367             1,756            
Biological assets written down -                  3,440            
Unrealised net foreign exchange losses 49,791 14,021          
Unrealised net (gain)/loss on fair value of derivative financial instruments 12,819          
Loss on recognition of loans and receivables -                  94
Interest expense 13,643 8,555            
Dividend income (11,934)         
Income from short-term fund placements -
Interest income (30,005)         
Rental income (3,975)           

297,492        

Land and development expenditure 2,729 12,341          
Inventories, biological assets and other intangible assets (25,898)         
Gross amounts due from/to customers (9,198)           
Receivables (127,763)       
Payables 35,368 43,369          

190,343        
Tax paid (48,469)         

224,884       141,874        
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2013 2012
Note RM'000

Acquisition of additional equity interest in an existing subsidiary 43 -                  (32,211)         
Acquisition of equity interest in associates (88,580)         
Advances to associates (2,363)           
Proceeds from disposal of other investments 24,034 13,784          
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 44 (166,213)       
Purchase of investment properties, biological assets and

other intangible assets (14,997)         
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

and investment properties 26,516 2,101            
Return of capital from joint venture 3,735 3,535            
Dividends received from associates 184,650 154,898        
Dividends received from other investments 10,117 11,860          
Income received from short-term fund placements 2,764 -
Interest received 25,880 28,213          
Rental received 3,417 3,975            

      (85,998)         

Shares issued to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary 10,932 4,508            
Revolving credits, banker's acceptance and short-term loans 67,189 85,705          
Bank term loans 45,843          
Payment of hire purchase liabilities               (14)
Advances from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 28,970 2,038            
Interest paid (10,104)         
Dividends paid to owners of the parent (237,100)       
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries             (27,585)         

      (136,709)       

(80,833)         
1,132,923     

             (2,396)           

964,252       1,049,694     

Cash and bank balances 170,162 93,433          
Deposits 498,348 956,651        
Short-term fund placements 296,481 -
Bank overdrafts             (390)             

964,252       1,049,694     

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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2013 2012

Note RM'000

Revenue 3 247,336         441,035          

Cost of sales 4           (20,269)           

Gross profit 227,670         420,766          

Other income 26,584           18,988            

Administrative expenses           (22,068)           

Profit before tax 6 197,508         417,686          

Income tax expense 7             (41,108)           

Profit for the year 190,996         376,578          

2013 2012

RM'000

Profit for the year 190,996         376,578          

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax

Items that will be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss 

Fair value of available-for-sale financial assets:

 - Gains arising during the year 50,485           32,620            

 - Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss upon disposal             195                 

Total comprehensive income 237,095         409,393          

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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2013 2012

Note RM'000

Property, plant and equipment 9 3,062 3,432

Investment properties 10 316,751 307,591

Investments in subsidiaries 15 1,439,442 1,417,267

Investments in associates 16 8,758,360 8,741,222

Other investments 18 641,231 591,988

Amounts due from a subsidiary 20 - 49,229

11,158,846        11,110,729         

Trade receivables 24 506 400

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 1,523 3,313

Amounts due from subsidiaries 20 529 5,153

Amounts due from associates 25 4,364 3,983

Deposits 27 297,960 605,155

Short-term fund placements 28 255,908 -

Cash and bank balances 5,869 11,906

566,659             629,910              

11,725,505        11,740,639         

Share capital 31 1,185,500 1,185,500

Share premium 6,715 6,715

Fair value reserve (137,132)

Retained earnings 10,604,981 10,662,940

11,706,163        11,718,023         

Deferred tax liabilities 35 723                     2,584                 

Other payables and accruals 37 13,094               14,553               

Amounts due to subsidiaries 20 5,153                 5,153                 

Bank overdrafts 39 209                     -                        

Current tax liabilities 163                     326                    

18,619               20,032               

19,342               22,616               

11,725,505        11,740,639         

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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Note

1,185,500     6,715            (169,947)       10,523,462    11,545,730    

Other comprehensive income -                   -                   32,815          -                   32,815          

Profit for the year -                   -                   -                   376,578        376,578        

Total comprehensive income -                   -                   32,815          376,578        409,393        

Dividends paid to shareholders 

of the Company 42 -                   -                   -                   (237,100)       (237,100)       

At 31 December 2012 1,185,500     6,715            (137,132)       10,662,940    11,718,023    

Other comprehensive income -                   -                   46,099          -                   46,099          

Profit for the year -                   -                   -                   190,996        190,996        

Total comprehensive income -                   -                   46,099          190,996        237,095        

Dividends paid to shareholders 

of the Company 42 -                   -                   -                   (248,955)       (248,955)       

1,185,500    6,715         10,604,981  11,706,163

 The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Profit before tax 197,508         417,686          

Amortisation and depreciation 7,449             7,460              

Property, plant and equipment and investment 

properties written off 380                109                 

Loss on strike-off of a subsidiary -                     1                    

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

and investment property 20                  (772)                

Bad and doubtful debts 320                32                   

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 24,497           -                     

Impairment of investment in an associate 10,243           -                     

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets             195                 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain                    (4)                   

Gain on recognition of loans and receivables                (558)                

Dividend income         (409,915)         

Income from short-term fund placements             -                     

Interest income           (16,681)           

             (2,447)             

Receivables 342                (693)                

Payables             6,113              

             2,973              

Tax paid             (3,610)             

            (637)                
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2013 2012

Note RM'000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 44                (2,201)             

Purchase of investment properties           (12,697)           

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and

equipment and investment properties 42                  1,168              

Proceeds from disposal of investments 14,576           191                 

Acquisition of equity interest in an associate           -                     

Subscription of redeemable preference shares of subsidiaries           -                     

Repayment from subsidiaries 53,888           1,268              

Advance to an associate                -                     

Dividends received from subsidiaries 11,500           213,000          

Dividends received from associates 173,603         148,854          

Dividends received from other investments 9,908             10,755            

Income received from short-term fund placements 2,552             -                     

Interest received 19,456           16,295            

194,591         376,633          

Advances from subsidiaries -                     5,000              

Dividends paid         (237,100)         

        (232,100)         

          143,896          

         473,161          

                    4                    

559,528         617,061          

Cash and bank balances 5,869             11,906            

Deposits 297,960         605,155          

Short-term fund placements 255,908         -                     

Bank overdrafts                -                     

559,528         617,061          

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements 
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The Company is a public-listed company limited by way of shares incorporated in Malaysia under the Companies Act 
1965. The Company is domiciled in Malaysia. 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements comply with applicable approved Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) issued by the 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) and with the provisions of the Companies Act 1965. 

The measurement bases applied in the preparation of the financial statements include cost, recoverable value, 
realisable value, revalued amount and fair value.  

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the Company’s functional 
currency. Unless otherwise indicated, the amounts in these financial statements have been rounded to the 
nearest thousand. 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Group and the Company are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year except for the adoption of the following FRSs and Amendments to FRSs, effective from 
financial periods beginning on or after:  

1 July 2012 
Amendments to FRS 101   Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 

1 January 2013 
FRS 10     Consolidated Financial Statements 
FRS 11     Joint Arrangements 
FRS 12     Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
FRS 13     Fair Value Measurement 
FRS 119     Employee Benefits 
FRS 127     Separate Financial Statements 
FRS 128     Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
Amendments to FRS 7   Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Amendments to FRS 10, FRS 11    Transition Guidance 
 and FRS 12 
Amendments to FRS 1, FRS 101,   Improvements to FRSs (2012) 
 FRS 116, FRS 132 and FRS 134 

The adoption of the above FRSs and Amendments to FRSs did not have significant financial impact on the Group 
and the Company except for the following: 

FRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

FRS 12 is a disclosure standard. It is applicable to interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements. The 
adoption of FRS 12 has resulted in additional disclosures in the financial statements. 

079The Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2013



Amendments to FRS 101 – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 

The Amendments to FRS 101 require items of other comprehensive income to be categorised as either (i) items 
that will not be subsequently reclassified to the income statement; or (ii) items that may be subsequently 
reclassified to the income statement when specific conditions are met. The Amendments to FRS 101 have been 
applied retrospectively. Other than changes in presentation of items of other comprehensive income, the 
adoption of Amendments to FRS 101 does not have significant impact on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 

2.3 Standards issued that are not yet effective 

The Group and the Company have not applied the following new FRS, Amendments to FRSs and Issues Committee 
Interpretations (“IC Interpretation”) that have been issued by MASB and relevant to their operations but are not 
yet effective: 

New FRS, Amendments to FRSs and IC Interpretation 

Effective for financial 
periods beginning on 
or after                  

FRS 9 Financial Instruments To be announced  by 
MASB 

Amendments to FRS 10,      
FRS 12 and FRS 127 

Investment Entities 1 January 2014 

Amendments to FRS 132 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014 
Amendments to FRS 136 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 

Assets 
1 January 2014 

Amendments to FRS 139 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting 

1 January 2014 

IC Interpretation 21 Levies 1 January 2014 
Amendments to FRS 3, FRS 8, 
FRS 13, FRS 116, FRS 124,   
FRS 138 and FRS 140 

Annual improvements to FRSs 2010 – 2013 cycle 1 July 2014 

The above new FRS, Amendments to FRSs and IC Interpretation are not expected to have any significant financial 
impact on the Group and the Company upon their initial application except for FRS 9 discussed as follows: 

FRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

FRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. It 
replaces the parts of FRS 139 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments.  

FRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured at fair value 
and those measured at amortised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification 
depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the instrument.  

For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the FRS 139 requirements. The main change is in cases 
where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own 
credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an 
accounting mismatch.  

The Group is yet to assess the full impact on adoption of FRS 9, and intends to adopt FRS 9 when it is mandated 
by the MASB. 
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Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) 

On 19 November 2011, the MASB issued a new MASB-approved accounting framework, the MFRS. The MFRS is to be 
applied by all entities other than private entities for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012, with 
the exception of entities subject to the application of MFRS 141 Agriculture and IC Interpretation 15 Agreements 
for Construction of Real Estate, including the entities’ parent, significant investor and venturer (“Transitioning 
Entities”). Transitioning Entities are allowed to defer adoption of the new MFRS and continue to use the existing 
FRS framework. 

The Group falls within the definition of Transitioning Entities and has opted to defer adoption of the new MFRS 
framework. Accordingly, the Group will be required to prepare its first MFRS financial statements when the new 
framework is mandated by the MASB.  

2.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying 
the accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions that affect reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period, and reported amounts of income and expenses during the financial year. 

Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, historical 
experience and various other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Critical judgement made in applying accounting policies

The following are judgements made by management in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

Classification of investment properties and owner-occupied properties 

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed certain criteria 
based on FRS 140 Investment Property in making that judgement. 

In making its judgement, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of 
other assets held by the Group. Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable not only to 
the property, but also to other assets used in the production and supply process. 

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital appreciation and another portion 
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods and services or for administrative purposes. If these 
portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for the 
portions separately. 

If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is accounted for as an investment property only if an 
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods and services or for administrative 
purposes. 

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that 
a property does not qualify as an investment property. 
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Revenue recognition of property development activities and engineering contracts 

The Group recognises property development and engineering contracts revenue and expenses based on the 
percentage of completion method. The stages of completion of the property development activities and 
engineering contracts are measured in accordance with the accounting policies set out in notes 2.11 and 2.15. 

Significant judgement is required in determining the percentage of completion, the extent of the development 
project and contract costs incurred, the estimated total revenue and total costs and the recoverability of the 
development project and contract. In making these judgements, management relies on past experience and the 
work of specialists. 

Allowance for doubtful debts  

The collectibility of receivables is assessed on an on-going basis. An allowance for doubtful debts is made for any 
account considered to be doubtful of collection.  

The allowance for doubtful debts is made based on a review of outstanding accounts as at the end of the 
reporting period. A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these 
receivables, including the creditworthiness and past collection history of each customer. If the financial condition 
of customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional 
allowances may be required. The carrying amount of the Group’s and Company’s trade receivables at the end of 
the reporting period are disclosed in notes 24 and 25. 

Deferred tax assets  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unutilised tax credits and tax losses 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available in future against which the deductible 
temporary differences and tax credits and tax losses can be utilised. 

Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based on the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies. The carrying amount of the Group’s deferred tax assets at the end of the reporting period is disclosed 
in note 19. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources associated with estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period that have significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment properties 

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis to write off 
their costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of 
these assets to be between 2 to 50 years for property, plant and equipment and between 10 to 50 years for 
investment properties, except for leasehold land which is over the remaining period of the lease.
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Changes in the expected level of usage, physical wear and tear and technological development could impact the 
economic useful lives and residual values of these assets, and therefore future depreciation charges may be 
revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s and Company’s property, plant and equipment and investment 
properties at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in notes 9 and 10. 

Impairment loss and write down of inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The Group estimates the net realisable value 
of inventories based on an assessment of expected selling prices. 

Inventories are reviewed on a regular basis and the Group will recognise an impairment loss for excess or obsolete 
inventories based primarily on historical trends and management estimates of expected and future product 
demand and related pricing.  

Demand levels, technological advances and pricing competition could change from time to time. If such factors 
result in an adverse effect on the Group’s products, the Group might be required to reduce the value of its 
inventories and additional impairment losses for slow-moving inventories may be required. The carrying amount 
of the Group’s inventories are disclosed in note 21. 

Impairment of goodwill 

The Group performs a goodwill impairment test annually, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. This requires an estimation of the value in use of 
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. 

Estimating value in use requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the 
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows. The carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill is disclosed in note 13. 

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture  

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture are assessed at the end of each reporting period to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, an estimation of their 
recoverable amount is required. 

Estimating the recoverable amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 
from the subsidiaries, associates and joint venture and also choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amounts of the Group’s investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint venture at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in notes 15, 16 and 17. 

2.5 Subsidiaries 

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment 
losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale. 

On disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the subsidiary disposed 
of is taken to the income statement. 
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2.6 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and of all its 
subsidiaries controlled by the Company made up to the end of the financial year.  

The Company controls an entity if and only if the Company has all the following: 

(i) power over the entity; 
(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity; and 
(iii) the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount of the returns. 

Potential voting rights are considered when assessing control only if the rights are substantive. 

All subsidiaries are consolidated on the acquisition method of accounting from the date of acquisition, being the 
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such control ceases. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and 
other events in similar circumstances. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation and the 
consolidated financial statements reflect external transactions only. 

The Company attributes the profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income to the owners of 
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. The Company also attributes total comprehensive income to 
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

Change in ownership interest which does not result in a loss of control is accounted for within equity. Where the 
change in ownership interest results in loss of control, any remaining interest in the former subsidiary is 
remeasured at fair value and a gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.  

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair 
values of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and equity instruments issued at the date of exchange. Any 
consideration transferred is to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date. Non-controlling interests that 
have present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in 
the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are 
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another FRS. All the acquisition-related 
costs are expensed off to the income statement. 

Goodwill on acquisition is measured as the difference between the aggregate of the fair value of the 
consideration transferred, any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value at the acquisition date 
of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if acquired via “piecemeal acquisition”), and the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets acquired. Any gain from bargain purchase (i.e. “negative goodwill”) will be 
recognised directly in the income statement.  
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2.7 Associates and joint ventures 

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
interest in a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee, but not control or joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
Group has significant influence. 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. 

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures are stated at cost 
less impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale. 

On disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the associate and 
joint venture disposed of are taken to the income statement. 

Investments in associates or joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method of accounting less any impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for sale or included in a 
disposal group that is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method, investments in associates or joint 
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share 
of net assets of the associates or joint ventures. 

The Group’s share of net profits or losses and changes recognised in the other comprehensive income of the 
associates or joint ventures are recognised in the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, respectively. 

An investment in an associate or joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 
the Group obtains significant influence or joint control until the date the Group ceases to have significant 
influence or joint control over the associate or joint venture. 

Premium relating to an associate or a joint venture is included in the carrying value of the investment and is not 
tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for 
impairment. 

Discount on acquisition is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead included as income 
in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 
acquired. 

Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates or joint ventures. 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted associate or joint venture, the 
carrying amount of that interest including any long-term investments is reduced to nil, and the recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on 
behalf of the associate. 

The results and reserves of associates or joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
based on audited/unaudited financial statements made up to the end of the financial year and prepared using 
accounting policies that conform to those used by the Group for like transactions in similar circumstances. 
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When changes in the Group’s interests in an associate do not result in a loss of significant influence, the retained 
interests in the associate are not remeasured. Any gain or loss arising from the changes in the Group’s interests in 
the associate is recognised in profit or loss. 

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in the former 
associate is recognised at fair value on the date when significant influence is lost. Any gain or loss arising from 
the loss of significant influence over an associate is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.8 Property, plant and equipment 

Measurement basis

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
an asset. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and 
equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is contracted as a consequence of 
acquiring or using the asset. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial year in which they are incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from their use or disposal. On disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount is recognised in the income statement. 

Depreciation

Freehold land and capital work-in-progress are not depreciated. 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the depreciable amount of other property, plant and equipment on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The depreciable amount is determined after deducting 
residual value from cost. 

The principal annual rates used for this purpose are: 

Land and buildings  2% - 10% or over the remaining period of lease 
Plant, machinery and equipment 5% - 50%  
Motor vehicles  10% - 25%  
Furniture, fittings, office and other equipment  5% - 50%  
Vessel  25 years 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period. 
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2.9 Investment properties  

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both rather than 
for use in the production or supply of goods and services or for administrative purposes, or sale in the ordinary 
course of business. 

Measurement basis

Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

The cost of investment properties includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial year in which they are incurred. 

Investment properties are derecognised upon disposal or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefits are expected from their disposal. On disposal, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in the income statement. 

Depreciation

Freehold land is not depreciated. 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the depreciable amount of other investment properties on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives. Depreciable amount is determined after deducting the residual value from 
the cost of the investment property. 

The principal annual rates used for this purpose are: 

Freehold buildings 2% 
Leasehold land and buildings 2% - 10% or over the remaining period of lease 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period. 

2.10 Biological assets  

Biological assets comprise primarily livestock and oil palms. 

(a) Livestock 

Livestock comprises broilers, pullets and layers parent stock and hatchable eggs. Livestock is valued at the 
lower of amortised cost and net realisable value. 

Cost includes the cost of the parent stock plus all attributable costs including overheads incurred in nursing 
the parent stock to the point of laying, and such cost is then amortised over its estimated economic life 
ranging from 21 days to 18 months. Accordingly, it is classified as a current asset. 

Net realisable value is defined as the aggregate income expected to be generated from total day-old chicks 
and eggs to be produced and proceeds from the disposal of the ex-broiler parent stock less expenses 
expected to be incurred to maintain the parent stock up to its disposal.

087The Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



(b) Oil palms 

The Group’s plantation assets are mainly situated on freehold land. New planting and replanting 
expenditure incurred on land clearing and upkeep of palms up to the point of harvesting are capitalised and 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful 
lives of the oil palms to be 25 years. Accordingly, they are classified as non-current assets.  

2.11 Development properties 

Development properties are classified under two categories i.e. land held for property development and property 
development costs. 

Land held for property development is defined as land on which development is not expected to be completed 
within the normal operating cycle. Usually, no significant development work would have been undertaken on 
these lands. Accordingly, land held for property development is classified as a non-current asset on the statement 
of financial position and is stated at cost plus incidental expenditure incurred to put the land in a condition ready 
for development. 

Land on which development has commenced and is expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle 
is included in property development costs. Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly 
attributable to development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. 

Where the outcome of a development activity can be reasonably estimated, revenue and expenses are recognised 
on the percentage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that costs 
incurred to-date bear to estimated total costs. In applying this method of determining stage of completion, only 
those costs that reflect actual development work performed are included as costs incurred. 

Where the outcome of a development activity cannot be reasonably estimated, revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable, and the property 
development costs on the development units sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

When it is probable that total costs will exceed revenue, the foreseeable loss is immediately recognised in the 
income statement irrespective whether development work has commenced, or of the stage of completion of 
development activity, or of the amounts of profits expected to arise on other unrelated development projects. 

The excess of revenue recognised in the income statement over billings to purchasers of properties is recognised 
as accrued billings under current assets. 

The excess of billings to purchasers of properties over revenue recognised in the income statement is recognised 
as progress billings under current liabilities. 

2.12 Leases 

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment or series of payments 
the rights to use an asset for an agreed period of time. 
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(a) Finance lease 

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset. Title may or may not eventually be transferred. 

Property, plant and equipment acquired by way of finance leases are stated at amounts equal to the lower 
of their fair values and the present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of the leases, less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the discount rate is the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, if this is determinable; if not, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate is used. 

(b) Operating lease 

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. 

Operating lease income or operating lease rental expenses are credited or charged to the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

2.13 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets comprise primarily goodwill, computer software and film rights. 

(a) Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.  

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill 
is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying values may be impaired. 

(b) Computer software and film rights 

Measurement basis

Computer software and film rights acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses, if any. 

Computer software and film rights are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from their use or disposal. On disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount is recognised in the income statement. 

Amortisation 

Amortisation is calculated to write off the depreciable amount of computer software on a straight-line basis 
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rate used is 25%. 

Film rights are amortised based on the total revenue stream expected to be generated from the different 
titles and upon the exploitation of the rights. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.  
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2.14 Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. 

(a) Initial recognition and measurement 

A financial instrument is recognised in the financial statements when the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial instrument is recognised initially at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at 
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
the financial instrument. 

(b) Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. Management determines the classification 
of the financial assets as set out below upon initial recognition.  

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract which terms 
require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace concerned. A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, 
as applicable, using settlement date accounting.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category includes financial assets held for trading, including derivatives (except for a derivative that is 
a designated and effective hedging instrument) and financial assets that are specifically designated into this 
category upon initial recognition. On initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at fair value. 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets in this category is at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised as gains or losses in the income statement. 

Loans and receivables 

This category comprises debt instruments that are not quoted in an active market, trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents. They are included in current assets, except for those with 
maturities longer than 12 months after the reporting period, which are classified as non-current assets. 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets in this category is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less allowance for impairment losses. Any gains or losses arising from impairment and 
through the amortisation process of loans and receivables are recognised in the income statement.  

Known bad debts are written off and allowance is made for any receivables considered to be doubtful of 
collection. 
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Available-for-sale financial assets 

This category comprises investments in equity and debt securities that are not held for trading or designated 
at fair value through profit or loss. 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets in this category is at fair value unless the fair value cannot 
be measured reliably, in which case they are measured at cost less impairment loss. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of an investment in this category are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, until the investment is derecognised, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in other comprehensive income is recognised in the 
income statement. Interest calculated for a debt instrument using the effective interest method is 
recognised in the income statement. 

All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to review for 
impairment. See note 2.22. 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or financial 
liabilities at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprises financial liabilities that are held for trading, 
derivatives (except for a designated and effective hedging instrument) and financial liabilities that are 
specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition. These financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at their fair values with the gain or loss recognised in the income statement. 

All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 

(c) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or the financial asset is transferred to another party without retaining control or 
substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received together with any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in the income statement. 

A financial liability or part of it is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired. 

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount and the consideration 
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the income 
statement. 

(d) Derivative financial instruments and hedging 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts, commodity futures and 
options to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency and commodity price fluctuations. 
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On initial recognition, these derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value on the date on 
which the derivative contracts are entered into, and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the 
end of each reporting period. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
are taken directly to the income statement. 

The fair value of forward contracts is determined by reference to current forward prices for contracts with 
similar maturity profiles. The fair value of futures, options and swap contracts is determined by reference 
to available market information and option valuation methodology. Where the quoted prices are not 
available, fair values are based on management’s best estimate and are arrived at by reference to the 
market prices of another contract that is substantially similar.  

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge 
relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedge item or 
transaction, the hedging instrument, the nature of the risk being hedged and how effectiveness will be 
measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected to offset the changes in fair value or cash flows 
and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout 
the reporting period for which they were designated. 

Cash flow hedge 

A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and 
could affect the profit or loss. For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the 
income statement. Amounts taken to other comprehensive income are transferred to the income statement 
when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where 
the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to other comprehensive 
income are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. However, loss 
recognised in other comprehensive income that will not be recovered in one or more future periods is 
reclassified from other comprehensive income into profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 

Cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument has expired or is 
sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge is no longer highly effective, the forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur or the hedge designation is revoked. If the hedge is for a forecast transaction, the 
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. 
When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, any related cumulative gain or loss recognised 
in other comprehensive income on the hedging instrument is reclassified from other comprehensive income 
into profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 

2.15 Engineering contracts 

The Group’s engineering contracts comprise substantially fixed price contracts and where their outcome can be 
reasonably estimated, revenue is recognised on the percentage of completion method. The stage of completion is 
determined by the proportion that costs incurred to-date bear to estimated total costs, and for this purpose, only 
those costs that reflect actual contract work performed are included as costs incurred. 

Where the outcome of an engineering contract cannot be reasonably estimated, revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable. At the same time, all contract costs 
incurred are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Costs that relate directly to a contract and which are incurred in securing the contract are also included as part 
of contract costs if they can be separately identified and measured reliably and it is probable that the contract 
will be obtained. 

When it is probable that total costs will exceed total revenue, the foreseeable loss is immediately recognised in 
the income statement irrespective of whether contract work has commenced or not, or of the stage of 
completion of contract activity, or of the amounts of profits expected to arise on other unrelated contracts. 

At the end of the reporting period, contracts in progress are reflected either as gross amounts due from or due to 
customers, where a gross amount due from customers is the surplus of (i) costs incurred plus profits recognised 
under the percentage of completion method over (ii) recognised foreseeable losses plus progress billings. A gross 
amount due to customers is the surplus of (ii) over (i). 

2.16 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on either the first-in-first-
out basis, the weighted average basis or a specific identification method depending on the nature of the 
inventories. Cost comprises the landed cost of goods purchased, and in the case of work-in-progress and finished 
goods, includes an appropriate proportion of factory overheads. 

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling and 
distribution costs and all other estimated costs to completion. 

2.17 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations  

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if the carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the assets (or 
disposal group) are available for immediate sale in their present condition and the sale is highly probable subject 
only to terms that are usual and customary. 

On initial classification as held for sale, non-current assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell.  

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the disposal group to fair value less 
costs to sell. Subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell is recognised as a gain in the income statement to 
the extent of the cumulative impairment loss that has been recognised previously. 

A component of the Group’s business is classified as a discontinued operation when the operation has been 
disposed of or meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, and such operation represents a separate major 
line of business or geographical area of operations. 

2.18 Share capital 

Ordinary shares are recorded at nominal value and proceeds received in excess, if any, of the nominal value of 
shares issued are accounted for as share premium. Both ordinary shares and share premium are classified as 
equity. Cost incurred directly attributable to the issuance of shares is accounted for as a deduction from share 
premium, if any, otherwise it is charged to the income statement. 

Preference shares are classified as equity if they are non-redeemable or their redemption is at the discretion of 
the Company. 

Dividends to shareholders are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared. 

093The Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2.19 Income recognition  

(a) Revenue from sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable and is recognised in 
the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
buyer. 

(b) Revenue from engineering contracts and the sale of development properties is recognised on the percentage 
of completion method, where the outcome of the contract can be reliably estimated. 

Revenue from engineering contracts represents the proportionate contract value on engineering contracts 
attributable to the percentage of contract work performed during the financial year. 

Revenue from the sale of development properties represents the proportionate sales value of development 
properties sold attributable to the percentage of development work performed during the financial year. 

(c) Revenue from box office collections, filmlet income, sale of film rights and film rental is recognised upon 
the exhibition of the cinematograph film or filmlet. 

(d) Revenue from services is measured at fair value of the consideration received and receivable and is 
recognised on an accrual basis when services are rendered. 

(e) Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

(f) Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis. 

(g) Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the specific tenure of the respective leases. 

(h)  Net voyage income is recognised over the period of the voyage on a pro-rata basis. 

2.20 Foreign currencies 

(a) Functional currency 

Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates. 

The financial statements of each entity within the Group are measured using their respective functional 
currency. 

(b) Transactions and balances in foreign currencies 

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (“foreign currencies”) are recorded in the 
functional currency using the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transactions. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end 
of the reporting period. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items and the translation of monetary items are 
included in the income statement for the period. 
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Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign 
operation, where that monetary item is denominated in either the functional currency of the reporting 
entity or the foreign operation, are initially taken directly to the foreign currency reserve within equity 
until the disposal of the foreign operations, at which time they are recognised in profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment. 

Non-monetary items which are measured in terms of historical costs denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated using the exchange rates ruling at the date of the initial transaction. 

Non-monetary items which are measured at fair values denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date when the fair value was determined. 

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any 
corresponding exchange gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on a 
non-monetary item is recognised in the income statement, any corresponding exchange gain or loss is 
recognised in the income statement. 

(c) Translation of foreign operations  

For consolidation purposes, all assets and liabilities of foreign operations that have a functional currency 
other than RM (including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of the foreign 
operations) are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period, except for 
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from business combinations before 1 January 2006 which are 
translated at exchange rates ruling at the date of acquisition. 

Income and expense items are translated at exchange rates approximating those ruling on transaction dates. 

All exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations are 
dealt with through the exchange translation reserve account within equity. On the disposal of a foreign 
operation, the cumulative exchange translation reserves relating to that foreign operation are recognised in 
the income statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

2.21 Impairment of non-financial assets  

(a) Goodwill 

Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the business combination. 

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement when the carrying amount of the cash-generating 
unit, including the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. Recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is the higher of the cash-generating unit’s fair value less cost to sell and 
its value in use. 

The total impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit and then to the other assets of the cash-generating unit proportionately on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the cash-generating unit. 

Impairment loss recognised on goodwill is not reversed in the event of an increase in recoverable amount in 
subsequent periods.
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(b) Property, plant and equipment, investment properties, biological assets, land held for property 
development, other intangible assets, and investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 

Property, plant and equipment, investment properties, biological assets, land held for property 
development, other intangible assets, and investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are 
assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 

If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. Value in use is the present value of the 
future cash flows expected to be derived from the assets. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual 
assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are charged to the income statement. 

Any reversal of an impairment loss as a result of a subsequent increase in recoverable amount should not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation, if 
applicable) had no impairment loss been previously recognised for the asset. 

2.22 Impairment of financial assets 

All financial assets except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having 
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. Losses expected as a result of future events, no 
matter how likely, are not recognised. For an equity instrument, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. 

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment 
loss is recognised in the income statement. 

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly 
or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are 
written off against the carrying amount of the financial asset. 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its 
amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in the income statement. 

096 PPB Group Berhad   ANNUAL REPORT 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



(b) Available-for-sale financial assets 

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement and is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised. Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial 
asset has been recognised in other comprehensive income, the cumulative loss in equity is reclassified from 
other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.  

An impairment loss in respect of an unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in the 
income statement and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial 
asset. 

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement for an investment in an equity instrument are not 
reversed through the income statement. 

2.23 Employee benefits 

(a) Short-term employee benefits 

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees. 

(b) Post-employment benefits 

The Company and its Malaysian subsidiaries pay monthly contributions to the Employees Provident Fund 
(“EPF”) which is a defined contribution plan. 

The legal or constructive obligation of the Company and its Malaysian subsidiaries is limited to the amount 
that they are required to contribute to the EPF. The contributions to the EPF are charged to the income 
statement in the period to which they relate. 

Some of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries make contributions to their respective countries’ statutory 
pension schemes which are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred. 

(c) Termination benefits 

The Group recognises termination benefits payable as a liability and an expense when it is demonstrably 
committed to terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
a realistic possibility of withdrawal. 

2.24 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs incurred on assets under development that take a substantial period of time to complete are 
capitalised into the carrying value of the assets. Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when development is 
completed or during extended periods when active development is interrupted. 

All other borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. The 
interest component of hire purchase payments is charged to the income statement over the hire purchase period 
so as to give a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining tenure of the hire purchase contract. 
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2.25 Taxation  

The tax expense in the income statement represents the aggregate amount of current tax and deferred tax 
included in the determination of profit or loss for the financial year. 

On the statement of financial position, a deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differences 
while a deferred tax asset is recognised for deductible temporary differences and unutilised tax credits only to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available in future against which the deductible 
temporary differences and tax credits can be utilised. 

No deferred tax is recognised for temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of: 

(i) goodwill; or 

(ii) an asset or liability which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the asset or liability is expected to be recovered or settled, and based on tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or when the liability is settled. 

Current tax and deferred tax are charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to 
items that are credited or charged, whether in the same or a different period, directly to other comprehensive 
income. 

2.26 Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand, short-term and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts 
and exclude deposits pledged to secure banking facilities. 

2.27 Segment reporting  

Segment reporting in the financial statements is presented on the same basis as that used by management 
internally for evaluating operating segment performance and in deciding on the allocation of resources to each 
operating segment. Operating segments are distinguishable components of the Group that engage in business 
activities from which they may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s results are reviewed regularly by 
the chief operating decision-maker to decide on the allocation of resources to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are those amounts resulting from operating activities of a 
segment that are directly attributable to the segment and a relevant portion that can be reasonably allocated to 
the segment. 

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group 
transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group 
balances and transactions are between group entities within a single segment. 
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Sales of agricultural produce, food-based

products and other goods 2,747,104     2,468,052    -                 -                 

Contract revenue 78,825          132,063       -                 -                 

Sale of development properties 45,130          44,110        -                 -                 

Collections from cinema operations 335,822        281,281       -                 -                 

Rental from leasing of investment properties 38,556          34,660        35,159       31,120        

Waste management and other services rendered 44,026          45,826        -                 -                 

Dividend income 23,454          11,934        212,177     409,915       

3,312,917     3,017,926    247,336     441,035       

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Raw materials and consumables used 1,748,700     1,579,597    -                 -                 

Finished goods purchased 454,571        406,857       -                 -                 

Employee benefits expense 118,856        96,852        4,522         4,353          

Depreciation and amortisation 77,948          72,735        7,084         7,074          

Cost of film rights and rental 125,922        107,113       -                 -                 

Rental of land and buildings 37,527          35,561        -                 -                 

Others 222,934        265,866       8,060         8,842          

2,786,458     2,564,581    19,666       20,269        

Included in the rental from leasing of investment properties is contingent rental amounting to RM1,018,334 (2012:
RM786,024) for the Group and the Company. 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Interest expense on: 

Banker's acceptance 3,707         1,539          

Revolving credits 159            156             

Bank term loans 9,725         6,809          

Bank overdrafts 9                11               

Hire purchase 5                2                 

Others 38              38               

13,643       8,555          

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Profit before tax is stated after charging: 

Amortisation of other intangible assets 14,571          14,531        -                 -                 

Auditors' remuneration 

- current year 1,012            867             80              78               

- underprovision in prior year -                    46               -                 5                 

Bad and doubtful debts 5,848            1,817          320            32               

Depreciation

- property, plant and equipment 88,895          82,683        628            629             

- investment properties 5,358            5,414          6,821         6,831          

- biological assets 168               167             -                 -                 

Direct operating expenses

- revenue-generating investment properties 23,557          23,332        22,770       22,598        

- non-revenue generating investment properties 174               174             7                7                 

Directors' remuneration

- Company's directors

- fees 306               262             281            237             

- other emoluments 6,591            10,400        4,662         8,683          

- Subsidiaries' directors 

- fees 251               268             -                 -                 

- other emoluments 10,991          10,647        -                 -                 
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Foreign exchange loss 

- realised 4,420            6,495          -                 1                 

- unrealised 57,611          14,355        -                 -                 

Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments 4,371            13,560        -                 -                 

Loss on disposal

 - property, plant and equipment 93                 266             20              20               

 - available-for-sale financial assets 469               -                 -                 195             

Impairment

 - property, plant and equipment -                    1,060          -                 -                 

 - investment property 134               -                 -                 -                 

 - investments in subsidiaries -                    -                 24,497       -                 

 - investment in an associate -                    -                 10,243       -                 

Goodwill written off -                    2                 -                 -                 

Operating leases 

 - minimum lease payments for land and buildings 31,470          28,027        773            690             

 - minimum lease payments for equipment 887               764             -                 -                 

 - contingent rent 9,376            7,025          -                 -                 

Loss on strike-off of a subsidiary -                    -                 -                 1                 

Assets written off 

 - land held for property development -                    195             -                 -                 

 - property, plant and equipment 5,086            533             37              36               

 - investment properties 343               73               343            73               

 - other intangible assets 7                   1                 -                 -                 

Assets written down

 - inventories 367               1,756          -                 -                 

 - biological assets -                    3,440          -                 -                 

Loss on recognition of loans and receivables -                    94               -                 -                 

and crediting: 

Gross dividends from unquoted subsidiaries in Malaysia -                    -                 15,334       250,256       

Gross dividends from associates 

 - quoted outside Malaysia -                    -                 160,477     146,154       

 - unquoted in Malaysia -                    -                 13,126       2,700          
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Gross dividends from other investments

 - quoted in Malaysia 4,267            5,185          4,200         4,827          

 - quoted outside Malaysia 19,187          6,749          19,040       5,978          

Interest income 25,401          30,005        17,953       16,681        

Income from short-term fund placements 2,975            -                 2,763         -                 

Rental income from investment properties 3,417            3,975          -                 -                 

Allowance for doubtful debts written back 684               1,605          -                 -                 

Bad debt recovered 3                   46               -                 -                 

Impairment written back

 - property, plant and equipment 301               -                 -                 -                 

 - investment property 32                 44               -                 -                 

Foreign exchange gain 

 - realised 10,912          9,376          -                 -                 

 - unrealised 7,820            334             4                4                 

Fair value gain 

 - financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 196               227             -                 -                 

 - derivative financial instruments 34,293          87               -                 -                 

Gain on recognition of loans and receivables -                    -                 490            558             

Gain on disposal

 - financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -                    1,040          -                 -                 

 - available-for-sale financial assets 15,649          66               4,386         -                 

 - property, plant and equipment 399               305             -                 -                 

 - investment properties 1,174            792             -                 792             

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Company's directors 112               84               69              50               

Subsidiaries' directors 194               197             -                 -                 

Directors' remuneration does not include the estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind as follows: 
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Malaysian taxation

Current 62,471          50,230        8,343         41,267        

Deferred            (4,018)         26              112             

61,416          46,212        8,369         41,379        

Foreign taxation 

Current 2,056            1,968          -                 -                 

Deferred 9,138            (270)            -                 -                 

72,610          47,910        8,369         41,379        

(Over)/Underprovision in prior year

Malaysian taxation 

Current            3,780          30              (112)            

Deferred               (2,978)                 (159)            

Foreign taxation

Current 2,378            (95)              -                 -                 

Deferred 6                   -                 -                 -                 

72,478          48,617        6,512         41,108        

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Accounting profit 273,885        200,058       197,508     417,686       

Taxation at applicable tax rate 67,461          49,206        49,377       104,422       

Tax effect arising from: 

Non-taxable income 

 - exempt dividends            (2,858)               (65,173)       

 - income from short-term fund placements               -                            -                 

 - gain on disposal of land and buildings               (198)            -                 (198)            

 - fair value gain on financial assets at fair value 

  through profit or loss                 (37)              -                 -                 

The provision for taxation differs from the amount of taxation determined by applying the applicable statutory tax
rate to the profit before tax excluding share of results of associates and joint venture, analysed as follows:

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company remained at 25%. 
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

 - gain on disposal of financial assets at fair 

 value through profit or loss -                    (172)            -                 -                 

 - gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets            (17)                      -                 

 - realised foreign exchange gain            -                 -                 -                 

 - others            (1,462)                    (141)            

Expenses eligible for double deduction               (493)            -                 -                 

Non-deductible expenses

 - impairment of subsidiaries -                    -                 6,124         -                 

 - impairment of an associate -                    -                 2,561         -                 

 - unrealised loss on derivative financial instruments -                    3,205          -                 -                 

 - loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 117               -                 -                 49               

 - property, plant and equipment written off 1,280            113             9                9                 

 - allowance for doubtful debt 1,447            5                 65              -                 

 - others 7,110            5,372          1,356         2,411          

Utilisation of reinvestment allowance               (7,798)         -                 -                 

Withholding tax on undistributed profit 

of foreign associates 9,983            -                 -                 -                 

Reversal of deferred tax liability upon disposal 

 of an investment property            -                 -                 -                 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 7,080            3,044          -                 -                 

(Over)/Underprovision in prior year               707                     (271)            

72,478          48,617        6,512         41,108        

2013 2012

Attributable to owners of the parent (RM'000) 982,573     842,152       

Number of ordinary shares in issue ('000) 1,185,500 1,185,500

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent (sen) 82.9           71.0            

The Company is on the single tier income tax system; accordingly the entire retained earnings of the Company are
available for distribution by way of dividends without incurring additional tax liability.

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group's profit for the year attributable to owners of the
parent by the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
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At 1.1.2013  186,558 273,794 376,834 665,074  116,135 108,641     89,133   1,816,169

Additions  1,128      2,353      26,102    66,464     9,689      11,057       101,816  218,609     

Disposals -             -             -             (897)        (5,171)     (184)           -             (6,252)        

Exchange differences -             -             (10,731)   (8,234)     5,838      (35)             (15,152)   (28,314)      

Write-offs -             (5)           (4,950)     (26,059)    (141)        (2,257)        -             (33,412)      

Reclassifications 640         4,165      351         4,848       -             252            (10,256)   -                

Transfer from other

intangible assets -             -             -             35           -             7                -             42              

At 31.12.2013 188,326 280,307 387,606 701,231  126,350 117,481     165,541 1,966,842

At 1.1.2013 55,895   52,532   143,558 349,017 51,173 65,623 -             717,798
Charge for the year  4,848      6,556      18,820 40,713 8,252 9,706 -             88,895

Disposals -             -             -             (849)        (4,879)     (128)           -             (5,856)        

Exchange differences -             -             (658)        (4,018)     816         (4)              -             (3,864)        

Write-offs -             (2)           (4,950)     (21,134)    (141)        (2,099)        -             (28,326)      

Reclassifications -             (6)           (2)           177          -             (169)           -             -                

Transfer from other

intangible assets -             -             -             9             -             2                -             11              

At 31.12.2013 60,743   59,080   156,768 363,915  55,221   72,931      -             768,658    

At 1.1.2013 476 -             523 1,060 - 430 -             2,489
Impairment written 

back -             -             - (301) - - -             (301)
At 31.12.2013 476        -            523        759         -             430           -             2,188        

at 31.12.2013 127,107 221,227 230,315 336,557 71,129 44,120 165,541 1,195,996

 - cost 127,107  220,842  230,315  336,557   71,129    44,120       165,541  1,195,611   

 - valuation -             385         -             -              -             -                -             385            

127,107  221,227  230,315  336,557   71,129    44,120       165,541  1,195,996   
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At 1.1.2012 186,425 271,000 347,855 648,989  107,263 96,972      9,485     1,667,989

Additions 133         3,562      30,614    22,795     15,379    15,569       93,826 181,878     

Disposals -             -             -             (715)        (3,519)     (409)           -             (4,643)        

Exchange differences -             -             (8,942)     (8,108)     (2,988)     (468)           (3,351)     (23,857)      

Write-offs -             -             (591)        (1,464)     -             (3,541)        -             (5,596)        

Reclassifications -             (768)       7,898      3,697       -             -                (10,827)   -                

Transfer from 

inventories -             -             -             -              -             518            -             518            

Transfer to other

intangible assets -             -             -             (120)        -             -                -             (120)           

At 31.12.2012 186,558 273,794 376,834 665,074  116,135 108,641     89,133   1,816,169

At 1.1.2012 51,943   46,004   127,421 316,798  46,286   60,264      -             648,716    

Charge for the year 3,952      6,536      17,813    37,445     8,024      8,913         -             82,683       

Disposals -             -             -             (604)        (2,880)     (264)           -             (3,748)        

Exchange differences -             -             (1,103)     (3,266)     (257)        (149)           -             (4,775)        

Write-offs -             -             (573)        (1,349)     -             (3,141)        -             (5,063)        

Reclassifications -             (8)           -             8             -             -                -             -                

Transfer to other

intangible assets -             -             -             (15)          -             -                -             (15)            

At 31.12.2012 55,895   52,532   143,558 349,017  51,173   65,623      -             717,798    

A late

At 1.1.2012 476 -             523 - - 430 -             1,429
Charge for the year  -             -             - 1,060 - - -             1,060
At 31.12.2012 476         -             523         1,060       -             430            -             2,489         

106 PPB Group Berhad   ANNUAL REPORT 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



at 31.12.2012 130,187 221,262 232,753 314,997 64,962 42,588 89,133   1,095,882

 - cost 130,187  220,873  232,753  314,997 64,962 42,588 89,133    1,095,493   
 - valuation -             389         - - - - -             389

130,187  221,262  232,753  314,997   64,962    42,588       89,133    1,095,882   

The property, plant and equipment stated at valuation were revalued by directors based on independent professional
valuations carried out in 1982 on the open market value basis. These valuations were for special purposes. It has never
been the Group's policy to carry out regular revaluations of its property, plant and equipment. The Group has availed
itself of the transitional provisions when the MASB first adopted IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment in 1998 and
accordingly, the carrying amounts of the revalued property, plant and equipment have been retained on the basis of
these valuations as though they had never been revalued.

Included in the Group's additions to property, plant and equipment during the financial year is capitalised interest
expense amounting to RM2.211 million (2012: RM1.479 million). 

Included in the Group's property, plant and equipment are motor vehicles acquired under unexpired hire purchase
arrangements with net book value amounting to RM3 (2012: RM3). 

Property, plant and equipment of the Group with net book value of approximately RM159.067 million (2012: RM157.082
million) has been charged to secure the long-term bank loan referred to in note 33. 

Title deeds to certain freehold land and buildings of the Group with net book value of RM2.842 million (2012: RM2.945
million) have yet to be issued by the relevant authorities. 
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At 1.1.2013 1,884                3,391                5,275                

Additions  110                    247                    357                    

Disposals (229)                   (25)                     (254)                   

Write-offs -                        (40)                     (40)                     

At 31.12.2013 1,765                3,573                5,338                

At 1.1.2013 503                    1,340                1,843                

Charge for the year  133                    495                    628                    

Disposals (183)                   (9)                       (192)                   

Write-offs -                        (3)                       (3)                       

At 31.12.2013 453                    1,823                2,276                

                1,750                3,062                

At 1.1.2012 1,485                2,386                3,871                

Additions 399                    1,802                 2,201                 

Disposals -                        (79)                     (79)                     

Write-offs -                        (718)                   (718)                   

At 31.12.2012 1,884                3,391                5,275                

At 1.1.2012 379                    1,574                1,953                

Charge for the year 124                    505                    629                    

Disposals  -                        (57)                     (57)                     

Write-offs  -                        (682)                   (682)                   

At 31.12.2012 503                    1,340                1,843                

                2,051                3,432                
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

     313,430       321,238     308,670       

Additions 3,301         13,013        16,324       12,697        

Disposals       (41)              -                 (41)              

Write-offs            (973)                       (88)              

312,682     325,429       337,212     321,238       

       91,769        9,625         2,809          

Charge for the year 5,358         5,414          6,821         6,831          

Disposals              -                 -                 -                 

Write-offs                (900)                           (15)              

101,568     96,283        16,439       9,625          

         6,966          4,022         4,022          

Charge for the year 134            -                 -                 -                 

Write back              (44)              -                 -                 

7,024         6,922          4,022         4,022          

     222,224       316,751     307,591       

 - cost 198,033     216,167       316,751     307,591       

 - valuation 6,057         6,057          -                 -                 

204,090     222,224       316,751     307,591       

     602,905       401,040     352,680       

Title deeds to certain investment properties of the Group with net book value of RM10.660 million (2012: RM8.697
million) have yet to be issued by the relevant authorities.

The investment properties stated at valuation previously included in property, plant and equipment were revalued
by directors based on independent professional valuations carried out in 1981 on the open market value basis.
These valuations were for special purposes. It has never been the Group's policy to carry out regular revaluations of
its investment properties. The Group has availed itself of the transitional provisions when the MASB first adopted
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment in 1998, and accordingly, the carrying amounts of these revalued investment
properties have been retained on the basis of these valuations as though they had never been revalued.
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2013 2012

RM'000

(included under non-current assets) 

4,599 4,272

Additions 285            327             

4,884         4,599          

1,839         1,672          

Charge for the year 168            167             

2,007         1,839          

         2,760          

(included under current assets)

Livestock at cost/net realisable value 17,370       14,268        

         263            8,936         13,732       

Additions -                 -                 6,484         6,484         

Transfer to property development costs              -         

4,513         263            12,400       17,176       

The fair values of these investment properties as at the financial year end were arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties and were performed by a registered independent valuer having
an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the locations and categories of the
properties being valued.
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At 1 January 2012  4,533              263                 7,074                 11,870                

Additions -                     -                     2,057                 2,057                 

Write-off -                     -                     (195)                   (195)                   

At 31 December 2012 4,533              263                 8,936                 13,732                

2013 2012

RM'000

74,615 74,617

Goodwill written off -                        (2)                       

74,615              74,615                

2013 2012

RM'000

Film exhibition and distribution 70,233              70,233                

Environmental engineering, waste management and utilities 3,338                3,338                 

Chemicals trading and manufacturing 290                    290                    

Other operations 754                    754                    

74,615              74,615                

Film exhibition and distribution 

The recoverable amount of the CGU of film exhibition and distribution is determined by value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by management. Cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a weighted average growth rate of 12.59% (2012: 12.33%)
per annum ("p.a."), based on the long-term average growth rate of the industry. A pre-tax discount rate of 12.48%
(2012: 12.80%) is applied to cash flow projections which also reflects the specific risks relating to the CGU.

Goodwill acquired in business combinations had been allocated to the Group's cash-generating units ("CGU") identified
according to business segments as follows:
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

2013 2012

RM'000

(included under non-current assets) 

10,506              8,778                 

Additions 1,748                1,655                 

Write-offs                   (37)                     

Transfer (to)/from property, plant and equipment                     120                    

Exchange differences                     (10)                     

12,036              10,506                

8,480                7,380                 

Charge for the year 1,039                1,123                 

Write-offs                   (36)                     

Transfer (to)/from property, plant and equipment                     15                      

Exchange differences                       (2)                       

9,340                8,480                 

                2,026                 

All the above key assumptions are based on management knowledge in the respective industries and historical
information. In assessing the value in use, management is of the view that no foreseeable changes in any of the above
key assumptions are expected to cause the carrying values of the respective CGUs to materially exceed their
recoverable amounts. 

Environmental engineering, waste management and utilities, chemicals trading and manufacturing and other
operations

The recoverable amounts of the CGU of environmental engineering, waste management and utilities, chemicals
trading and manufacturing, and other operations are determined by value in use calculations using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by management. The cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using weighted average growth rates between 2.00% to 12.00% (2012: between
2.00% to 5.00%) p.a., based on the long-term average growth rate of the respective industries. Pre-tax discount rates
between 4.89% to 12.69% (2012: between 8.20% to 14.90%) are applied to cash flow projections which also reflect the
specific risks relating to the CGUs. 
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2013 2012

RM'000

(included under current assets)

61,826              55,980                 

Additions 13,853              13,031                 

Rights expired                (7,185)                 

68,922              61,826                 

50,190              43,967                 

Charge for the year 13,532              13,408                 

Rights expired                (7,185)                 

56,965              50,190                 

              11,636                 

2013 2012

RM'000

Unquoted shares at cost 1,463,939         1,417,267            

Impairment loss on unquoted shares at cost              -                         

1,439,442         1,417,267            

The subsidiaries are listed in note 56. 

The Group has assessed the non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the Group and has determined that the non-
controlling interests are not individually material to the Group's financial position, performance and cash flows.
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Shares quoted outside Malaysia at cost 8,080,369      8,080,369       8,684,629         8,684,629           

Unquoted shares at cost 315,967         184,390          83,999              56,618                

8,396,336      8,264,759       8,768,628         8,741,247           

Impairment loss on unquoted shares             (4,705)                          (25)                     

Group's share of post-acquisition reserves 4,236,521      3,033,743       -                        -                        

12,628,152    11,293,797      8,758,360         8,741,222           

Market value of quoted shares 10,408,042    9,808,174       10,408,042       9,808,174           

Wilmar International Ltd 2013 2012

RM'000

Non-current assets 60,296,545 54,032,343

Current assets 91,556,842 72,947,154

Non-current liabilities (16,266,888)        

Current liabilities (65,578,179)        

Net assets 50,748,540 45,134,430

Revenue 139,718,594 140,304,642       

Profit for the year 4,188,781 3,808,695

Other comprehensive (loss)/income 436,140

Total comprehensive income 2,909,918 4,244,835

The summarised financial information of the Group's material associate as at 31 December is as follows:

The Group's share of the current year's losses and accumulated losses of an associate amounting to RM434,000 and
RM641,000 (2012: RM207,000 and RM207,000), respectively have not been recognised in the Group's income statement
as equity accounting had ceased when the Group's share of losses of this associate exceeded the carrying amount of
its investment in the associate.
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2013 2012

RM'000

Net assets 50,748,540 45,134,430

Proportion of ownership interest held by the Group 18.3% 18.3%

Group's share of net assets 9,297,133 8,273,141

Goodwill 3,379,505 3,149,199

Other adjustments 

- Non-controlling interests' share of associate's net assets (476,787)

- Others (8,205)

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the associate 12,132,471 10,937,348

2013 2012

RM'000

Profit for the year 21,912 18,210

Other comprehensive loss (6,158)

Total comprehensive income 18,099              12,052                

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in associates 495,681 356,449

The associates are listed in note 57. 

The reconciliation of the summarised financial information of the Group's material associate to the carrying amount of
interest in the associate is as follows:

The Group has received dividends from Wilmar International Ltd for the current year amounting to RM160.477 million
(2012: RM146.154 million).

The summarised aggregate financial information of the Group's share of other individually non-material associates as
at 31 December is as follows: 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Capital contribution, at cost 7,325                11,060                

Group's share of post-acquisition reserves 50,043              40,668                

57,368              51,728                

2013 2012

RM'000

Profit for the year 3,870 4,211

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,870 4,211

The joint venture is listed in note 58. 

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Classified as available-for-sale financial assets 

Shares quoted in Malaysia at market value 253,842         213,387          247,800            200,211              

Shares quoted outside Malaysia at market 

value 405,188         402,988          393,165            391,511              

Unquoted shares at cost 427                427                 266                    266                    

659,457         616,802          641,231            591,988              

Classified as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

Shares quoted outside Malaysia at market 

value 1,177             907                 -                        -                        

660,634         617,709          641,231            591,988              

The summarised financial information of the Group's share of joint venture as at 31 December is as follows:
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

             7,557              -                        -                        

Exchange translation differences                  (29)                 -                        -                        

Originating/(Reversal) during the year 1,821             (1,610)             -                        -                        

7,683             5,918              -                        -                        

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Tax effects of 

 - Unabsorbed tax losses 9,906             6,045              -                        -                        

 - Unabsorbed capital allowances 7,062             -                     -                        -                        

 - Excess of capital allowances over 

accumulated depreciation on 

property, plant and equipment             (127)                -                        -                        

7,683             5,918              -                        -                        

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Unabsorbed tax losses 87,442           49,978            18,199              18,199                

Unabsorbed capital allowances 78,180           65,368            -                        -                        

Unutilised investment tax allowances 872                15,936            -                        -                        

Excess of capital allowances over 

accumulated depreciation on 

property, plant and equipment           (26,732)           -                        -                        

132,864         104,550          18,199              18,199                

The Group has recognised the deferred tax assets based on the current level of operations of certain subsidiaries and
the probability that sufficient taxable profit will be generated in the future against which the deferred tax assets can
be utilised. 

Further, the following temporary differences and unused tax credits exist as at 31 December of which the deferred
tax benefits have not been recognised in the financial statements:

The deferred tax assets on temporary differences recognised in the financial statements are as follows: 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Bearing interest at nil% (2012: 3.32%) p.a. -                        49,229                

2013 2012

RM'000

Bearing interest at nil% (2012: 3.32%) p.a. -                        4,671                 

Interest-free 529                    482                    

529                    5,153                 

2013 2012

RM'000

Raw materials 378,036            369,719              

Work-in-progress 7,719                9,464                 

Finished goods 100,802            74,556                

Completed development properties 1,748                2,953                 

Sundry stores and consumables 20,188              19,535                

508,493            476,227              

The amounts due to subsidiaries included under current liabilities represent interest-free unsecured advances which
are repayable on demand.

Amount due from a subsidiary included under current assets 

Amounts due to subsidiaries included under current liabilities 

The amount due from a subsidiary included under non-current assets represents unsecured advances not expected to
be recalled within the next 12 months and is analysed as follows: 

Amount due from subsidiary included under non-current assets 

The amounts due from subsidiaries included under current assets represent unsecured advances which are repayable
on demand. 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Freehold land - at cost  3,927                3,927                 

- at valuation 748                    748                    

Development and construction costs 24,663              39,061                

29,338              43,736                

Development costs incurred during the year 18,817              5,390                 

Cost recognised in income statement during the year              (18,081)              

Transferred from land held for property development 3,040                -                        

Transferred to inventories                     (1,707)                

23,165              29,338                

2013 2012

RM'000

Aggregate contract expenditure incurred to-date 526,837            460,667              

Attributable profit recognised to-date 69,557              57,616                

596,394            518,283              

Progress billings to-date            (504,581)             

15,764              13,702                

Gross amount due from customers 20,035              28,715                

Gross amount due to customers                (15,013)              

15,764              13,702                

Progress billings comprise:

Progress billings

 - received 562,383            487,116              

 - receivable 5,495                3,659                 

Retention sums 12,752              13,806                

580,630            504,581              
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Trade receivables 485,314         426,765          580                    418                    

Allowance for doubtful debts           (11,487)                               (18)                     

473,436         415,278          506                    400                    

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Trade balances 469                863                 -                        -                        

Advances bearing interest ranging from 0.71%

to 4.32% (2012: 0.79% to 4.32%) p.a. 93,961           24,549            4,364                3,982                 

Interest-free advances 3,248             2,739              -                        1                        

97,678           28,151            4,364                3,983                 

Allowance for doubtful debts             (189)                -                        -                        

93,880           27,962            4,364                3,983                 

Credit terms granted to customers normally range from 14 to 120 days.

Amounts due to associates included under current liabilities 

The amounts due from associates included under current assets are unsecured and are analysed as follows: 

The trade balances due to associates included under current liabilities are expected to be settled within the normal
credit periods.  The advances are payable on demand. 

The trade balances are expected to be settled within the normal credit periods. The advances can be recalled on
demand.

Amounts due from associates included under current assets 

120 PPB Group Berhad   ANNUAL REPORT 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2013 2012

RM'000

Assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 

 - Forward contracts 351                    6                        

 - Futures and options contracts 4,912                7,189                 

5,263                7,195                 

Liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 

 - Forward contracts                     (1,154)                

 - Futures and options contracts                (34,321)              

               (35,475)              

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Deposits with licensed banks

 - in Malaysia 446,671         909,954          297,960            605,155              

 - outside Malaysia 51,677           46,697            -                        -                        

498,348         956,651          297,960            605,155              

The effective interest rates range from 0.17% to 10.00% (2012: 0.20% to 8.00%) p.a. All the deposits have maturities
of less than one year. 

Short-term fund placements represent investment in highly liquid money market instruments. This investment is
readily convertible to cash and has insignificant risk of changes in value.

The effective returns per annum of the short-term fund for the year range from 3.05% to 3.60% p.a. (2012: not
applicable).

121The Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2013 2012

RM'000

Investment properties

At cost - 13,847

Accumulated depreciation - (4,838)

Net book value -                        9,009                 

Number

of shares 

'000 RM'000

Ordinary shares of RM1 each 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

Ordinary shares of RM1 each 1,185,500 1,185,500 1,185,500 1,185,500

The assets classified as held for sale were as follows:

<----------2012----------><----------2013---------->

At 31 December 2012, since the fair values less costs to sell of the assets classified as held for sale exceeded their net
carrying amounts, no impairment loss was recognised.

The disposal of investment property amounting to RM9.009 million classified as held for sale in 2012 was completed in
2013 with a gain of RM1.174 million.

Cash and bank balances of the Group include an amount of RM25.7 million (2012: RM18.1 million) maintained in
Housing Development Accounts. Withdrawals from the Housing Development Accounts are restricted in accordance
with the Housing Development (Housing Development Account) Regulations 1991. 

Funds maintained in the Housing Development Accounts earn interest at 2% (2012: 2%) p.a. 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Revaluation reserve 45,131 60,532
Exchange translation reserve (952,538)
Fair value reserve 236,187 198,192
Hedge reserve 36,044
Capital reserve 246,700 248,964

209,684            (408,806)             

Details of the capital reserve are as follows:

2013 2012

RM'000

Share of capital reserves of associates 223,027 225,291

Share premium of subsidiaries arising from shares issued to

non-controlling interests 23,651 23,651

Transferred from retained earnings arising from bonus issue by subsidiary 22 22

246,700            248,964              

2013 2012

RM'000
Secured:

109,102            92,304                

Unsecured:

-                        5,515                 

109,102            97,819                

Repayments due within the next 12 months included under

short-term borrowings (see note 38)              (12,607)              

Repayments due after 12 months 89,657              85,212                

The bank term loans are repayable as follows:

 - within one year (included under current liabilities) 19,445              12,607                

 - later than one year but not later than five years 89,657              78,045                

 - later than five years -                        7,167                 

109,102            97,819                

Chinese Yuan Renminbi-denominated loan bearing interest at nil (2012: 
7.05%) p.a., repayable in full by 2014

United States Dollars-denominated loans bearing interest ranging from 1.25% 
to 2.25% p.a. above SIBOR (effective interest rate: 2.49% to 3.50% (2012: 
2.58% to 3.50%) p.a.) repayable in full between 2015 and 2018 (see note 9)

123The Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2013 2012

RM'000

Outstanding hire purchase instalments due:

  - within one year 49 15

  - later than one year but not later than five years 42 13

91 28

Unexpired term charges (2)

Outstanding principal amount due 86                      26                      

Outstanding principal amount due as follows:

  - within one year (included under current liabilities) 45 14

  - later than one year but not later than five years 41 12

86                      26                      

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

79,800 2,584 2,631

Originating/(Reversal) during the year 9,061             (8,877)                            (47)                     

79,984           70,923            723                    2,584                 

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000
Tax effects of

- Excess of capital allowances over 

 accumulated depreciation on 

 property, plant and equipment 59,251 65,439 723 2,584

- Surplus on revaluation of land

 and buildings 12,063 16,619 - -

- Unabsorbed capital allowances - (874) - -

- Unabsorbed tax losses - (6,108) - -

- Other temporary differences 8,670             (4,153)             -                        -                        

79,984           70,923            723                    2,584                 

The deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

The effective interest rates of the hire purchase liabilities for the year range from 4.78% to 6.17% (2012: 6.17%) p.a.
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Unpaid property, plant and equipment and 

investment properties acquired 16,557 9,401 - -

Interest accrued 799 1,308 - -

Other payables 76,516 67,394 178 27

Accruals 57,206 51,373 4,068 6,466

Tenants and other deposits 14,925 13,994 8,848 8,060

166,003         143,470          13,094              14,553                

2013 2012

RM'000

Unsecured:

Trust receipt - 78

Banker's acceptance 126,459 139,800

Revolving credits 5,737 2,300

Bank term loans 177,430 133,421

Current portion of long-term bank loans (see note 33) - 2,767

309,626            278,366              
Secured:

Current portion of long-term bank loans (see note 33) 19,445 9,840

329,071            288,206              

Included in other payables is an amount of RM35.493 million (2012: RM31.642 million) due to non-controlling interests
in subsidiaries. This amount represents unsecured advances bearing interest from 3.00% to 3.50% (2012: 3.00%) p.a.
which are repayable on demand.

The normal credit terms extended by suppliers of the subsidiaries range from 30 to 120 days. Retention sums for
construction contracts are payable upon the expiry of the defects liability period of the respective construction
contracts.  The defects liability periods of construction contracts are between 12 and 30 months.

The borrowings bear interest at commercial rates which vary according to inter-bank offer or base lending rates,
depending on the nature and purpose of the borrowings.
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2013 2012
% p.a. % p.a.

Trust receipt - 7.60

Banker's acceptance 3.30 - 3.73 3.32 - 3.34

Revolving credits 4.56 - 6.55 4.50 - 4.80

Bank term loans 2.00 - 10.05 2.35 - 7.30

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

 Unsecured bank overdrafts 739                390                 209                    -                        

2013 2012

RM'000

- Exchange translation reserve                     -                        

- Retained earnings                8,447                 

               8,447                 

The bank overdrafts bear interest at commercial rates which vary according to the banks' base lending rates. The
effective interest rates applicable are between 6.60% and 8.10% (2012: between 6.60% and 7.60%) p.a.

The effective interest rates for the short-term borrowings are as follows:
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2013 2012

RM'000

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2011

Final single tier dividend of 13 sen per share -                        154,115              

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012

Interim single tier dividend of 7 sen per share -                        82,985                

Final single tier dividend of 13 sen per share 154,115            -                        

154,115            82,985                

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2013 

Interim single tier dividend of 8 sen per share 94,840              -                        

248,955            237,100              

Additional

interest

acquired

%

31.7

Transfer of reserves is mainly derived from the Group's share of associates' reserves in respect of transfers made
pursuant to the laws of certain countries in which a certain amount from the net profit must be allocated to a reserve
fund.

Subsequent to the financial year end, the Directors recommended the payment of a final single tier dividend of 17 sen
per share amounting to RM201.535 million subject to shareholders' approval at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

Effective acquisition date 

RM'000

32,211 14 February 2012 

consideration

There was no acquisition of shares in subsidiaries during the year.

The details of acquisition of additional interest in an existing subsidiary in 2012 are as follows:

Cash

Name of subsidiary 

Cathay Screen Cinemas Sdn Bhd
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2013 2012

RM'000

Non-controlling interests acquired -                        7,068                 

Changes in interest in subsidiary -                        25,143                

Net cash outflow on acquisition -                        32,211                

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Property, plant and equipment

(see note 9) 218,609         181,878          357                    2,201                 

Interest expense capitalised             (1,479)             -                        -                        

Hire purchase capitalised                -                     -                        -                        

Deposits paid in prior year             (20,242)           -                        -                        

Deposits paid in current year 1,283             2,697              -                        -                        

Cash paid in respect of prior year acquisition 9,401             12,760            -                        -                        

Unpaid balances included under other 

payables           (9,401)             -                        -                        

Cash paid during the financial year 207,728         166,213          357                    2,201                 

The subsidiary liquidated in 2012 was Cipta Quantum Sdn Bhd.

There were no subsidiaries liquidated in 2013. 

The non-controlling interests acquired and the net cash outflow arising from the acquisition of additional interests in 
the existing subsidiary are as follows:
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An analysis of the liquidation is as follows:

2013 2012

RM'000

Total surplus assets and capital receivable from subsidiary 

liquidated during the year -                        342                    

Less:

Cost of investment -                        (108)                   

Post-acquisition profit previously consolidated -                        (234)                   

Surplus arising from liquidation -                        -                        

(a) Significant related party transactions during the financial year are as follows:

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Transactions with subsidiaries

Interest received and receivable -                     -                     1,570                1,902                 

Transactions with associates

Management fee received 961                1,002              -                        -                        

Film rental received 1,131             790                 -                        -                        

Transactions with subsidiaries of 

ultimate holding company 

Sales of goods 12,982           17,558            -                        -                        

Transactions with subsidiaries

of associates

Purchase of goods 162,798 165,845 - -

Sales of goods 3,324 7,481 - -

Rental received 3,386 3,064 - -

Security and other services paid 

and payable 1,616 1,439 - -

Charter hire of vessels 64,264 80,311 - -

Project management fee 3,018 - - -
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Significant outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Amounts owing by associates 469 863 - -

Amounts owing to associates 578 802 - -

(b)

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Directors

Short-term employee benefits 6,576             7,139              4,692                5,460                 

Post-employment benefits 

 - EPF 433                907                 320                    810                    

 - Gratuity -                     2,700              -                        2,700                 

Sub-total 7,009             10,746            5,012                8,970                 

Other key management personnel 

Short-term employee benefits 16,967           15,724            1,914                1,450                 

Post-employment benefits 

 - EPF 1,496             1,365              298                    224                    

 - Gratuity -                     184                 -                        -                        

Sub-total 18,463           17,273            2,212                1,674                 

Total compensation 25,472           28,019            7,224                10,644                

Key management personnel compensation

All outstanding balances with related parties are expected to be settled within the normal credit period. None of
the balances is secured. 
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2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Employee benefits expense 222,911         203,473          17,728              20,237                

Post-employment benefits 20,366           17,948            1,860                2,201                 

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

-

- contracted 28,425           90,269            -                        -                        

- not contracted 277,368         260,998          5,623                4,653                 

305,793         351,267          5,623                4,653                 

- Other capital expenditure 

 - contracted 134,636         185,011          25,419              -                        

Total capital commitments 440,429         536,278          31,042              4,653                 

Authorised capital expenditure

There were no contingent liabilities at the end of the current financial year. 

The previously reported contingent liability of RM16.6 million arising from a warranty given to a purchaser of one of
the Group's and Company's investments has been settled at RM1.9 million.

Property, plant and equipment 
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The Group as lessee 

2013 2012

RM'000

 - within one year 28,116              27,408                

 - later than one year but not later than five years 27,662              23,176                

 - later than five years 327                    493                    

56,105              51,077                

The Group as lessor 

2013 2012

RM'000

 - within one year 3,558                3,924                 

 - later than one year but not later than five years 3,484                5,223                 

7,042                9,147                 

The future aggregate minimum lease payments receivable under the non-cancellable operating leases contracted for
as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as assets are as follows:

The Group leases premises from various parties under operating leases. These leases comprise non-cancellable leases
and typically run for periods ranging from one to five years, with option to renew the leases after the expiry dates.
There are no restrictions placed on the Group by entering into these leases. Certain of the leases include contingent
rental arrangements computed based on sales achievement if higher than fixed base rents.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating leases contracted for as at the
end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

The Group leases out its investment properties under cancellable and non-cancellable operating leases. These leases
typically run for a period of one to three years with option to renew the leases after the expiry date. Certain of the
leases include contingent rental arrangements computed based on sales achievement if higher than fixed base rents.
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(a)  By business segment  

(i) Flour and feed milling,  -

  and grains trading

(ii) Marketing, distribution  - Marketing and distribution of edible oils and consumer  

 and manufacturing of   products; manufacturing of toilet requisites and 

 consumer products  household products  

(iii) Film exhibition and - Exhibition and distribution of cinematograph films  

 distribution 

(iv) Environmental engineering,  -

 waste management and

 utilities 

(v) Property investment -

  and development 

(vi) Chemicals trading and -

 manufacturing 

(vii) Livestock farming -

(viii)  Investments in equities - Investments in quoted and unquoted shares 

(ix) Other operations -

 products, shipping and others 

The Group's operating and reportable segments (excluding associates and joint venture) are business units engaging
in providing different products and services and operating in different geographical locations.

There was no transaction with any single external customer which amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenues
for the current financial year (2012: none).

The Group's operations comprise the following reportable segments:

Transactions between segments are entered into in the normal course of business and are established on terms
and conditions that are not materially different from those obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.
The effects of such inter-segmental transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

Trading and manufacturing of chemical products 

Packaging, oil palm plantations, investment holding, 

 of residential and commercial properties 

 production and distribution of frozen food and bakery 

Flour milling and manufacturing of animal feed, 

 and wheat and maize trading 

Production of day-old chicks, eggs and other related 

 downstream activities 

Construction works specialising in water and environmental

 industry and provision of waste management services

Letting of commercial properties and development

133The Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



External sales 1,950,921 403,986 342,213         
Inter-segment sales 101,246 4 -

Total revenue 2,052,167       403,990                   342,213         

Segment results 124,486 23,837 49,404           
Share of associates' profits 2,410 - 680
Share of joint venture's profit - - -
Interest income
Income from short-term fund placements 
Finance costs
Unallocated corporate expense
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

Segment assets 1,479,154 226,777 257,841         
Investments in associates 227,800 - 66,310           
Investment in joint venture - - -
Bank deposits and short-term fund placements 
Tax assets
Unallocated corporate assets
Consolidated total assets

Segment liabilities 124,671 42,720 84,283           
Borrowings
Tax liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities
Consolidated total liabilities

Capital expenditure 107,835 4,608 48,240           
Unallocated corporate capital expenditure 

Amortisation and depreciation 32,630 4,277 42,755           
Unallocated corporate amortisation and depreciation 

Non-cash items other than amortisation and depreciation  36,685 492 5,072            
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment property - - (301)
Unallocated corporate non-cash items other than amortisation 
  and depreciation

2013

134 PPB Group Berhad   ANNUAL REPORT 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Continued to Next Page



99,948 87,496           87,385             97,666 23,455 219,847 - 3,312,917         
64 2,048             29,025             159 - 15,209 (147,755)   -

100,012                 89,544           116,410           97,825       23,455         235,056       (147,755)    3,312,917         

6,648 34,303           1,607              (7,494) 38,831 7,211 (798)         278,035
4,451 8,242             - - - 769,879 - 785,662
3,870 - - - - - - 3,870

25,401
2,975

(13,643)
(18,883)

1,063,417         
(72,478)

990,939            

68,240 294,609          55,561             114,162 660,631 394,154 (28)           3,551,101         
39,582 150,654          - - - 12,143,806 - 12,628,152       
57,368 - - - - - - 57,368

794,829
24,901
9,079

17,065,430       

51,016 16,989           12,732             2,895 - 20,945 (186)         356,065
419,553
94,893
3,022

873,533            

6,532 3,587             939 2,804 - 49,184 - 223,729
214

223,943            

1,873 5,681             2,239              5,702 - 13,453 - 108,610
382

108,992            

64 (1,150)            - (26) (15,376) 2,798 - 28,559
- 102 - - - - - (199)

292

28,652              
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External sales 1,751,745 388,579 289,681         
Inter-segment sales 95,822 4 -

Total revenue 1,847,567       388,583                   289,681         

Segment results 122,386 19,521 39,788           
Share of associates' profits 13,426 - 607
Share of joint venture's profit - - -
Interest income
Finance costs
Unallocated corporate expense
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

Segment assets 1,282,686 193,099 242,835         
Investments in associates 180,683 - 3,828            
Investment in joint venture - - -
Bank deposits
Tax assets
Unallocated corporate assets
Consolidated total assets

Segment liabilities 154,042 34,865 67,743           
Borrowings
Tax liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities
Consolidated total liabilities

Capital expenditure 122,193 2,035 34,884           
Unallocated corporate capital expenditure 

Amortisation and depreciation 33,047 3,509 37,816           
Unallocated corporate amortisation and depreciation 

Non-cash items other than amortisation and depreciation 28,140 417 65
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment property - - 1,060            
Unallocated corporate non-cash items other than amortisation 
  and depreciation

2012
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155,129 79,081           89,287             58,796 11,934 193,694 - 3,017,926         
59 1,683             26,943             18,826 - 14,700 (158,037)   -

155,188                 80,764           116,230           77,622       11,934         208,394       (158,037)    3,017,926         

9,476 22,291           1,757              (29,296) 13,498 (1,723) 334           198,032
2,877 1,677             - - - 693,958 - 712,545
4,211 - - - - - - 4,211

30,005
(8,555)

(19,424)

916,814            
(48,617)

868,197            

71,224 302,641          54,100             110,104 617,710 363,930 (31)           3,238,298         
34,766 115,015          - - - 10,959,505 - 11,293,797       
51,728 - - - - - - 51,728

956,651
27,141
11,734

15,579,349       

44,003 14,331           14,988             2,696 - 19,186 (813)         351,041
373,834
85,103
4,000

813,978            

3,031 13,227           2,635              1,195 - 15,737 - 194,937
1,936

196,873            

1,400 5,204             2,320              5,733 - 13,365 - 102,394
401

102,795            

(491) 268 18 3,472 (1,333) 949 - 31,505
- (44) - - - - - 1,016

(535)

31,986              
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(b) By geographical segment 

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Malaysia 2,652,835 2,449,318 1,207,557 1,168,729        

Indonesia 410,636 334,063 195,496 208,086

Singapore 53,443 62,357 111 60

Other Asean countries 164,324 144,362 94,286 34,364

East Asia 17,847 16,278 - -

Other Asian countries 1,914 160 - -

European countries 2,021 2,104 - -

America and Asia Pacific 

 countries and others 9,897 9,284 - -

3,312,917      3,017,926       1,497,450          1,411,239        

(a) Classification of financial instruments 

2013

Other investments                       -          659,457                   1,177           660,634 

Receivables           659,782                      -                           -           659,782 

Derivative financial assets                       -                      -                   5,263               5,263 

Deposits, cash and bank balances           668,510                      -                           -           668,510 

Short-term fund placements                       -                      -               296,481           296,481 

Total financial assets 1,328,292      659,457         302,921              2,290,670      

The Group operates mainly in Asia. In determining the geographical segments of the Group, revenue is based
on the geographical location of customers. Non-current assets are disclosed based on the geographical
locations of the assets, and does not include investments in associates and joint venture, other investments
and deferred tax assets. 
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2012

Other investments                        -              616,802                    907              617,709 

Receivables              572,370                        -                        -              572,370 

Derivative financial assets                        -                        -                 7,195                 7,195 

Deposits, cash and bank balances           1,050,084                        -                        -           1,050,084 

Total financial assets           1,622,454              616,802                 8,102           2,247,358 

2013

Other investments -                       641,231                                  - 641,231           

Receivables 6,797                                      -                        - 6,797               

Deposits, cash and bank balances 303,829                                  -                        - 303,829           

Short-term fund placements -                       -                       255,908           255,908           

Total financial assets            310,626            641,231 255,908                   1,207,765 

2012

Other investments -                       591,988                                   - 591,988            

Receivables 62,012              -                                              - 62,012              

Deposits, cash and bank balances 617,061            -                                              - 617,061            

Total financial assets              679,073              591,988                        -           1,271,061 
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2013

Payables            348,468                        -            348,468 

Borrowings            419,553                        -            419,553 

Derivative financial liabilities -                                      6,348                6,348 

Total financial liabilities            768,021                6,348            774,369 

2012

Payables              304,553                        -              304,553 

Borrowings              373,834                        -              373,834 

Derivative financial liabilities -                                     35,475               35,475 

Total financial liabilities              678,387               35,475              713,862 

2013

Payables              18,247 -                       18,247             

Borrowings                   209 -                       209                  

Total financial liabilities              18,456                        -              18,456 

2012

Payables               19,706 -                       19,706              

Borrowings                        - -                       -                       

Total financial liabilities               19,706                        -               19,706 

(b) Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled
between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm's length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The carrying amounts of the financial instruments of the Group and of the Company at the end of the reporting
period approximated or were at their fair value. 
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Other investments 

Derivatives

Short-term fund 

Other non-derivative financial instruments 

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Fair value of other non-derivatives is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting period. 

Level 2: 

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

Fair value of the short-term fund has been determined by reference to the net assets value of the fund at the
end of the reporting period as quoted by the fund manager. 

Fair value of commodities futures and options has been determined by reference to current quoted market
prices for contracts with similar maturity profiles. 

Level 1: 

Level 3: 

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets
or liabilities, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Fair value of forward foreign currency contracts has been determined by reference to current forward
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. 

Fair value of other investments has been determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price at the end
of the reporting period. 

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of the Group's and of the Company's investments in unquoted
shares due to the lack of comparable quoted market prices and the inability to estimate fair value without
incurring excessive costs. 

The following summarises the methods used in determining the fair value of financial instruments:

The Group's financial instruments are carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy in which the different
levels have been defined as follows: 
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2013

Other investments 660,207           -                       660,207           

Short-term fund placements -                       296,481           296,481           

Forward contracts -                       351                  351                  

Futures and options contracts -                       4,912               4,912               

660,207           301,744           961,951           

2012

Other investments 617,282            -                       617,282            

Short-term fund placements -                       -                       -                       

Forward contracts -                       6                      6                      

Futures and options contracts -                       7,189                7,189                

617,282            7,195                624,477            

2013

Other investments 640,965           -                       640,965           

Short-term fund placements -                       255,908           255,908           

640,965           255,908           896,873           

2012

Other investments 591,722            -                       591,722            

Short-term fund placements -                       -                       -                       

591,722            -                       591,722            

2013

Forward contracts -                       28                    28                    

Futures and options contracts -                       6,320               6,320               

-                       6,348               6,348               

2012

Forward contracts -                       1,154                1,154                

Futures and options contracts -                       34,321              34,321              

-                       35,475              35,475              

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 throughout the year. 
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(a) Foreign currency exchange risk 

(b) Interest rate risk 

There have been no significant changes in the Group's exposure to financial risks from the previous year. Also, there
have been no changes to the Group's risk management objectives, policies and processes since the previous financial
year end. 

The Group enters into derivative instruments, principally forward, futures and options contracts to hedge its
exposure to financial risks.  The Group does not trade in derivative instruments. 

Financial risk management is carried out through risk reviews, internal control systems, insurance programmes and
adherence to financial risk management policies. 

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including foreign currency exchange risk, interest
rate risk, price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall financial risk management objective is to
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on the outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items of
the Group as at 31 December 2013. If the United States Dollars ("USD") were to strengthen or weaken by 5%
against RM with all other variables held constant, the Group profit after tax would increase or decrease by
RM6.658 million (2012: RM9.464 million). 

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations. If
the USD were to strengthen or weaken by 5% against RM with all other variables held constant, the Group's
equity would increase or decrease by RM332 million (2012: RM321 million). 

The Group is exposed to currency risk as a result of foreign currency transactions entered into in currencies
other than its functional currencies. The Group enters into forward foreign currency contracts to limit its
exposure to foreign currency receivables and payables, and on cash flows from anticipated transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. 

The Group's management review and agree on policies for managing each of the financial risks and they are
summarised as follows: 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk which is the risk that a financial instrument's value will fluctuate as
a result of changes in market interest rates. 

As other foreign currency denominated monetary items as at 31 December 2013 are not material, the
sensitivity analysis has not been presented. 
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(c) Price risk 

2013

Other investments 59                    32,952             -                       32,048             

2012

Other investments 45                    30,819              -                       29,586              

(d) Credit risk 

The Group's management has a credit policy in place to ensure that transactions are conducted with
creditworthy counter parties. 

Credit risk arises from the possibility that a counter party may be unable to meet the terms of a contract in
which the Group has a gain position. 

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. Exposure to changes in interest rate risk relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings and deposits
placed with licensed banks and financial institutions. 

A sensitivity analysis has been performed based on the quoted market prices of the Group's equity investments
in quoted shares as at 31 December 2013. If the quoted market prices were to increase or decrease by 5% with
all other variables held constant, the Group's and the Company's profit after tax and equity would increase or
decrease by the amounts as shown below: 

A sensitivity analysis has been performed based on the outstanding floating rate bank borrowings of the Group
as at 31 December 2013. If interest rates were to increase or decrease by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the Group profit after tax would decrease or increase by RM1.573 million (2012:
RM1.402 million), as a result of higher or lower interest expense on these borrowings. 

The Group's exposure to price risk arises mainly from fluctuations in the prices of key raw materials. The
Group manages this risk by using commodity futures and options to hedge its exposure. 

The Group is also exposed to price risk arising from changes in value caused by movements in market price of
its investments in quoted shares. The risk of loss is minimised via thorough analysis before investing and
continuous monitoring of the performance of the investments. The Group optimises returns by disposing of
investments only after thorough analysis. 
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2013

Not past due 356,586           -                       -                       -                       

Less than 30 days past due 64,522             -                       175                  -                       

Between 30 and 90 days past due 38,685             -                       63                    -                       

More than 90 days past due 25,990            342                    

485,783            580                    

Included under receivables 

Trade receivables (note 24) 485,314            580                    

Amount due from associates 

(note 25) 469                  -                       -                       -                       

485,783            580                    

2012

Not past due 301,354            -                       -                       -                       

Less than 30 days past due 55,723              -                       140                   -                       

Between 30 and 90 days past due 42,403              (17)                   104                   -                       

More than 90 days past due 28,148              (11,470)             174                   (18)                   

427,628            (11,487)             418                   (18)                   

Apart from a customer of a subsidiary of the Group, the Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to
any single debtor or any group of debtors. The amount due from the said customer amounted to RM68.450
million (2012: RM57.097 million) as at the end of the reporting period. The credit risk associated with trade
receivables from this customer is mitigated by a charge on land valued at RM50.500 million (2012: RM43.387
million) and financial guarantees amounting to RM8.000 million (2012: RM12.900 million) pledged in favour of
the subsidiary of the Group and title deeds held in escrow for land valued at approximately RM10.000 million
(2012: nil). 

The ageing analysis of receivables which are trade in nature is as follows: 

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables arising from the sale of goods. 

Exposure to credit risk arising from sales made on deferred credit terms is managed through the application of
credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures on an ongoing basis. If necessary, the Group may
obtain collaterals from counter parties as a means of mitigating losses in the event of default. 

The Group seeks to invest its surplus cash safely by depositing it with licensed banks and financial institutions. 
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Included under receivables 

Trade receivables (note 24) 426,765            (11,487)             418                   (18)                   

Amount due from associates 

(note 25) 863                   -                       -                       -                       

427,628            (11,487)             418                   (18)                   

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts of trade receivables are as follows: 

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 11,487             12,998              18                    -                       

Doubtful debts recognised 1,642               1,218                56                    18                    

Doubtful debts written off                  (1,130)              -                       -                       

Doubtful debts written back                  (1,605)              -                       -                       

Exchange translation differences 17                    6                      -                       -                       

At 31 December 11,878             11,487              74                    18                    

(e) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations when they fall due.
The Group's exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables and borrowings. 

Owing to the nature of its businesses, the Group also seeks to maintain sufficient credit lines available to meet
its liquidity requirements while ensuring effective working capital management within the Group. 

Therefore, the policy seeks to ensure that each business unit, through efficient working capital management
(i.e. inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable management), must be able to convert its current
assets into cash to meet all demands for payment as and when they fall due. 

The Group seeks to ensure all business units maintain optimum levels of liquidity at all times, sufficient for
their operating, investing and financing activities. 
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Less than 1 to 5 More than 

1 year years 5 years Total 

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2013

Payables 348,468           -                       -                       348,468           

Borrowings 331,202           95,478             -                       426,680           

Derivative financial 

liabilities 6,348               -                       -                       6,348               

686,018           95,478             -                       781,496           

2012

Payables 304,553            -                       -                       304,553            

Borrowings 294,674            82,882              7,192                384,748            

Derivative financial 

liabilities 35,475              -                       -                       35,475              

634,702            82,882              7,192                724,776            

2013

Payables 18,247             -                       -                       18,247             

Borrowings 209                  -                       -                       209                  

18,456             -                       -                       18,456             

2012

Payables 19,706              -                       -                       19,706              

Borrowings -                       -                       -                       -                       

19,706              -                       -                       19,706              

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and the Company's financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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2013 2012

RM'000

Share capital 1,185,500       1,185,500         

Reserves 14,467,780     13,085,875       

Total capital 15,653,280     14,271,375       

Short-term borrowings 329,810           288,596            

Long-term borrowings 89,657             85,212              

Hire purchase liabilities 86                    26                    

Total borrowings 419,553           373,834            

Total borrowings to capital ratio (times) 0.03 0.03

Total borrowings to capital ratio was as follows: 

Management reviews and manages the capital structure regularly and makes adjustments to address changes in the
economic environment and risk characteristics inherent in the Group's business operations. These initiatives may
include adjustments to the amount of dividends distributed to shareholders. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to the owners of the parent (i.e. share capital,
reserves, retained earnings) and total debts, which include borrowings. 

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to ensure that it maintains a strong capital base and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its existing business operations and enable future development of the
businesses as well as maximise shareholders' value. 

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on
28 March 2014.
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The subsidiaries are as follows: 

2013 2012

% %

     80.0   Malaysia Investment holding, grains trading, flour 

milling, feed milling and bakery products 

manufacturing

Johor Bahru Flour Mill 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Flour milling and manufacturing of animal 

Sdn Bhd feed 

* FFM (Sabah) Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of animal feed 

Lamlewa Feedmill Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Dormant 

* FFM Feedmills (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd 75.0     75.0   Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of animal feed 

FFM Further Processing Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Manufacturing and processing of nuggets 

and sausages 

Mantap Aman Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 

* PT Pundi Kencana 51.0     51.0   Indonesia Flour milling 

FFM Marketing Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Distribution and marketing of edible oils 

and consumer products 

* FFM Flour Mills (Sabah) Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Provision of management services 

Taloh Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 

Waikari Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 

* Buxton Ltd 100.0   100.0  Samoa Investment holding 

Friendship Trading Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Provision of transportation services 

* Glowland Ltd 100.0   100.0  Samoa Investment holding 

JBFM Flour Mill Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Provision of management services 

FFM Farms Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Livestock breeding, processing of manure 

into organic fertilisers and oil palm 

plantation

FFM Pulau Indah Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Provision of management services 

* FFM Flour Mills (Sarawak) 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Flour milling 

Sdn Bhd
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2013 2012

% %

FFM SMI Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 

* Vietnam Flour Mills Ltd 100.0   100.0  Socialist Flour milling  

 Republic of

 Vietnam

* VFM-Wilmar Flour Mills 51.0     51.0   Socialist Pre-operating 

Company Ltd  Republic of

 Vietnam

Tego Sdn Bhd 79.9     79.9 Malaysia Manufacturing of polyethylene and 

polypropylene woven bags and fabrics 

Tego Multifil Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of 

polypropylene multi-filament yarns 

* Tefel Packaging Industries 100.0   100.0  Union of Manufacturing and trading of polyethylene 

Co Ltd  Myanmar and polypropylene woven bags and  

fabrics

* Keen Trade Ltd 100.0   100.0  British Virgin Trading of flexible intermediate bulk 

 Islands container bags, polyethylene and 

polypropylene woven bags and fabrics 

The Italian Baker Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Distribution and marketing of bakery 

products and provision of management 

services

   100.0  Malaysia Property development  

Kembang Developments Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Rental of landed properties 

South Island Mining Company 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding, iron-ore sales and 

Sdn Bhd oil palm cultivation 

Seletar Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Oil palm cultivation and property 

development

   100.0  Malaysia Dormant 
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2013 2012

% %

   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 

Cathay Screen Cinemas Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Property investment and investment 

holding

Cathay Theatres Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Property investment 

Cathay Theatres 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Ceased operations in 2013 

(Sarawak) Sdn Bhd 

Golden Screen Cinemas 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Exhibition and distribution of 

Sdn Bhd cinematograph films 

Premier Cinemas Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Ceased operations in 2013 

Cinead Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Advertising contractor and consultant 

Glitters Café Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Operator of cafés 

Easi (M) Sdn Bhd 60.0     60.0   Malaysia Provision of information technology 

solutions, consultation services and 

sales of related products and services 

* Enterprise Advanced System 100.0   100.0  Singapore Software development and software 

Intelligence Pte Ltd  maintenance 

Easi Ticketing Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Provision of information technology 

services and sales of related products 

GSC Movies Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Distribution of cinematograph films 

Golden Screen 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 

 International Sdn Bhd

* Kerry Golden Screens Ltd -           60.0   Hong Kong Deregistered 

GSC Vietnam Ltd 100.0   -         Malaysia Investment holding 

   100.0  Malaysia Corporate secretarial, share registration 

and share nominee services 

   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 
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2013 2012

% %

   100.0  Malaysia Ownership and operation of a 
Malaysian-registered ship 

   - Malaysia Investment holding 

*    100.0  Hong Kong Investment holding 

     55.0   Malaysia Trading in chemical products, investment 

holding and provision of management 

services

Products Manufacturing 70.0     70.0   Malaysia Manufacture and wholesale of toilet 

Sdn Bhd requisites, household and chemical 

products

CQ Properties Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Property investment 

CWM Group Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Construction works specialising in the 

water and environmental industry 

Cipta Wawasan Maju 70.0     70.0   Malaysia Builders and contractors for general 

 Engineering Sdn Bhd engineering and construction works 

SES Environmental Services 50.1     50.1   Malaysia Investment holding 

 Sdn Bhd 

Solar Status Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Investment holding 

* AWS Sales & Services Sdn Bhd 80.0     80.0   Malaysia Contractors for garbage collection and 

provision of management and other 

services in connection with garbage 

collection

Sitamas Environmental 70.0     70.0   Malaysia Provision of refuse disposal services 

Systems Sdn Bhd 

Zegwaard Bumianda Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Provision of liquid waste disposal services 

Entrol Systems Sdn Bhd 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Letting of properties 
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2013 2012

% %

Tunggak Menara Services 100.0   100.0  Malaysia Provision of garbage collection and 

 Sdn Bhd disposal services 

Malayan Adhesives & 99.6     99.6   Malaysia Manufacturing and marketing of adhesives, 

Chemicals Sdn Bhd resins, additives, formaldehyde and 

phenoset microspheres, trading in 

contact glue and investment holding 

* Chemquest (Overseas) Ltd 100.0   100.0  British Virgin Investment holding 

 Islands

* PT Healthcare Glovindo 99.9     99.9   Indonesia Dormant 

* Kerry Utilities Ltd 50.0     50.0   Samoa Investment holding 

* Beijing Kerry Veolia Waste 51.0     51.0   The People's Investment holding 

Water Treatment Co Ltd  Republic of 

 China

* Beijing CQ Environmental 100.0   100.0  The People's Provision of consultancy services 

 Management Consultancy   Republic of 

 Services Co Ltd  China

* Subsidiaries not audited by Mazars 

The associates are as follows:

2013 2012

% %

Shaw Brothers (M) Sdn Bhd 34.0     34.0   Malaysia Property investment, investment holding 

and provision of management services 

* Vita Tenggara Fruit Industries 40.0     40.0   Malaysia Property development 

Sdn Bhd 
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2013 2012

% %

Trinity Coral Sdn Bhd 25.0     25.0   Malaysia Investment holding 

Wisma Perak Sdn Bhd 50.0     50.0   Malaysia In member's voluntary winding up  

Grenfell Holdings Sdn Bhd 49.7     49.7   Malaysia Investment holding 

Huge Quest Realty Sdn Bhd 40.0     -         Malaysia Investment holding 

* Kerry Flour Mills Ltd 43.4     43.4   Thailand Wheat flour milling and distribution 

Berjaya-GSC Sdn Bhd 50.0     50.0   Malaysia Exhibition of cinematograph films 

* Ancom-Chemquest Terminals 25.0     25.0   Malaysia Building, owning, operating, leasing and 

Sdn Bhd managing a chemical tank farm and

warehouse

* Worldwide Landfills Sdn Bhd 40.0     40.0   Malaysia Management of environmental sanitary 

landfill and waste treatment 

* Veolia Water Kerry Water 49.0     49.0   Hong Kong Investment holding 

 Services Ltd 

* Kerry CQ JV Environmental 50.0     50.0   British Virgin Investment holding 

Engineering Ltd  Islands

* Foodteller Sdn Bhd 35.0     35.0   Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of pastry and  

related products

*# Wilmar International Ltd 18.3     18.3   Singapore Oil palm cultivation, oilseed crushing, 

("Wilmar") edible oils refining, sugar milling and 

refining, specialty fats, oleochemicals,

biodiesel and fertilisers manufacturing, 

consumer pack edible oils processing 

and merchandising, soy protein

manufacturing, rice and flour milling, 

and grains merchandising

PT Tri Persada Mulia 30.0     30.0   Indonesia Manufacturing and trading of  

polypropylene woven bags 

* Kart Food Industries Sdn Bhd 45.0     45.0   Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of 

food products 
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2013 2012

% %

* Kart Food Marketing Sdn Bhd 45.0     45.0   Malaysia Dormant 

* Yihai (Chongqing) Foodstuffs 20.0     20.0   The People's Pre-operating  

Co., Ltd   Republic of 

 China

* Yihai Kerry (Quanzhou) Oils, 20.0     20.0   The People's Flour milling 

Grains & Foodstuffs  Republic of 

Industries Co., Ltd  China

* Yihai Kerry (Anyang) 20.0     20.0   The People's Flour milling 

Foodstuffs Industries Co., Ltd  Republic of 

 China

* Yihai Kerry (Beijing) Oils, 20.0     20.0   The People's Flour milling 

Grains & Foodstuffs   Republic of 

Industries Co., Ltd  China

* Yihai Kerry (Shenyang) Oils, 20.0     20.0   The People's Flour milling 

Grains & Foodstuffs  Republic of 

Industries Co., Ltd  China

* Dongguan Yihai Kerry Oils, 20.0     20.0   The People's Flour milling 

Grains & Foodstuffs Industries  Republic of 

Co., Ltd  China

* Yihai (Zhoukou) Wheat 20.0     20.0   The People's Flour milling 

Industries Co., Ltd Republic of 

China

* Yihai Kerry (Zhengzhou) 20.0     20.0 The People's Flour milling 

Foodstuffs Industries Co., Ltd Republic of 

China

* Yihai Kerry (Kunshan) 20.0     - The People's Flour milling 

Foodstuffs Industries Co., Ltd Republic of 

China

Summit Bay Sdn Bhd 35.0     35.0 Malaysia Film production 

Raintree Profits Sdn Bhd 31.5     50.0 Malaysia Film production 

* Medan Multimedia Sdn Bhd 19.0     - Malaysia Film production 
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2013 2012

% %

* Galaxy Studio Joint Stock 25.0     - Socialist Cinema operator & film distribution 

Company Republic of

Vietnam

*  Associates not audited by Mazars 

#

Shaw Brothers (M) Sdn Bhd 31 March 

Ancom-Chemquest Terminals Sdn Bhd 31 May 

The joint venture is as follows: 

2013 2012

% %

* Beijing Drainage Group Co Ltd 42.0     42.0   The People's Own, operate and maintain a waste water 

 Veolia Kerry Wastewater  Republic  treatment plant 

 Treatment Plant  of China

The financial year ends of the associates are co-terminous with that of the Group except for the following: 

For the purpose of applying equity accounting, management financial statements of these associates are prepared to
the same reporting date as the Group. 

* Joint venture not audited by Mazars

The Group considers Wilmar an associate by virtue of its ability to exercise significant influence over Wilmar's
financial and operating policy decisions through board representation. 

156 PPB Group Berhad   ANNUAL REPORT 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Realised and unrealised profits/(losses)

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Total retained profits/(losses) of the 

Company and subsidiaries:

 - Realised 12,208,286   12,021,168     10,605,706   10,665,524     

 - Unrealised          (76,843)                        (2,584)            

12,130,664   11,944,325     10,604,981   10,662,940     

Total share of retained profits/(losses) 

from associates:

 - Realised 121,849        96,022           -                    -                    

 - Unrealised            2,289             -                    -                    

 - Wilmar International Ltd * 4,142,851     3,555,328      -                    -                    

Total share of retained profits from 

joint venture:

 - Realised 6,849            5,862             -                    -                    

16,400,538   15,603,826     10,604,981   10,662,940     

Less: consolidation adjustments    (2,115,860)     -                    -                    

Total Group's and Company's retained 

profits as per accounts 14,251,381   13,487,966     10,604,981   10,662,940     

*

The following information has been prepared in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination
of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

The retained profits/(losses) of the Group and the Company are analysed as follows:

Wilmar International Ltd ("Wilmar") is not required to disclose the breakdown of realised and unrealised profits
under the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and Singapore Companies Act, Cap 50. As the breakdown is
considered sensitive information, it would not be appropriate for Wilmar to selectively disclose such information to
any particular shareholder.
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We, SOH CHIN TECK and DATO’ CAPT. AHMAD SUFIAN @ QURNAIN BIN ABDUL RASHID, being two of the Directors of 
PPB Group Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 66 
to 156 are drawn up in accordance with applicable approved Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia and the 
provisions of the Companies Act 1965 so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the 
Company at 31 December 2013 and of their results and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

On behalf of the Board 

Director 

Director 

Kuala Lumpur 
28 March 2014 
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I, LEONG CHOY YING, being the person primarily responsible for the accounting records and financial management of 
PPB Group Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
set out on pages 66 to 156 are to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration 
conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act 1959. 

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the 
abovenamed Leong Choy Ying 
at Victoria, Australia  
on this 3rd day of April, 2014 

Before me, 

John Bennison 
Notary Public 
Victoria, Australia 
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We have audited the financial statements of PPB Group Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position 
as at 31 December 2013 of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements, statements of comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 
66 to 156. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia. 
The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we 
consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as of 31 December 2013 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia. 

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following: 

(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the 
Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act. 

(b) We have considered the accounts and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not 
acted as auditors, which are indicated in note 56 to the financial statements. 
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(c) We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s 
financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of 
the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations 
required by us for those purposes. 

(d) The audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse 
comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act. 

The supplementary information set out on page 157 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements.  The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
supplementary information in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and 
Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad.  In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the 
Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for 
the content of this report. 

        
No. AF: 1954       No. 3004/07/14 (J) 
Chartered Accountants      Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur 
28 March 2014
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Location

Description &
existing use of 
properties

Date of
acquisition/
revaluation

Age of
buildings
in years Land area Tenure

Year of
expiry

Net book
value at

31.12.2013
RM'000

Property leased out 16.4.1990 - sq metres -

Property leased out 16.4.1990 >50 sq metres - 332  

Land for property 
development

7.11.1991 - sq metres -

Oil palm estate 13.4.1981 - hectares -

Land for property 
development

13.4.1981 - sq metres -

Poultry breeder farm 
& oil palm plantation

21.2.1995 17 103 hectares -

leased out
30.9.1976 7 2 hectares -

building leased out
28.4.1989 37 sq metres Leasehold 2111

building
25.11.1982 31 sq metres Leasehold 2111

building
10.2.1989 31 sq metres Leasehold 2111

Industrial land 4.11.1990 - sq metres Leasehold 2111

Odeon Penang

10000 Penang

Property leased out 16.4.1990 sq metres -
16.4.1990 - sq metres Leasehold

10000 Penang

16.4.1990 33 sq metres Leasehold
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Location

Description &
existing use of 
properties

Date of
acquisition/
revaluation

Age of
buildings
in years Land area Tenure

Year of
expiry

Net book
value at

31.12.2013
RM'000

Property leased out 16.4.1990 sq metres Leasehold
357

16.4.1990 - sq metres Leasehold
16.4.1990 - sq metres Leasehold 71

10300 Penang

2 storey shophouses 

31.3.1981 > 50 sq metres -

10300 Penang
2 storey shophouses 

Land under 
development and 
held for property 
development

3.9.2003 - sq metres -

Land for property 
development

12.7.2013 - sq metres -

30300 Ipoh

Property leased out 16.4.1990 57 sq metres -

Ipoh
warehouse

3.10.1991 20 sq metres Leasehold

Lumut
leased out

28.12.1995 17 sq metres Leasehold 2105

Layer farm & 
oil palm plantation

25.10.1996 15 220 hectares -

vacant industrial land
6.6.1995 sq metres Leasehold

& vacant industrial 
land 

19.10.1993
1.6.1994

sq metres -

 
 

out

16.4.1990 31 sq metres -

Land leased out 16.4.1990 - sq metres -
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Location

Description &
existing use of 
properties

Date of
acquisition/
revaluation

Age of
buildings
in years Land area Tenure

Year of
expiry

Net book
value at

31.12.2013
RM'000

22.2.1993 sq metres Leasehold

22.2.1993 25 sq metres Leasehold

1.1.2004 33 sq metres Leasehold

Land for property
development

9.3.1982 - sq metres - 101 

Land for property
development

9.3.1982 - sq metres Leasehold 2077 &

 9.3.1982 sq metres Leasehold 2077 & 

Eight storey building & 9.3.1982 27 sq metres Leasehold 2077

Vacant commercial 
building

16.4.1990 - sq metres Leasehold

Poultry breeder farm 12.3.1992 21 sq metres -

building
30.6.1996 22 sq metres -

building
30.6.1996 sq metres Leasehold

26.2.1996 sq metres -

warehouse
12.9.1992 sq metres Leasehold

Vacant land 8.9.2011 - sq metres Leasehold 2107
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Location

Description &
existing use of 
properties

Date of
acquisition/
revaluation

Age of
buildings
in years Land area Tenure

Year of
expiry

Net book
value at

31.12.2013
RM'000

Pasir Gudang
building

7.1.1989 sq metres Leasehold

Pasir Gudang

10.10.1987
14.7.1988

17 to 25 sq metres Leasehold
2050

Property leased out 16.4.1990 57 sq metres -

District of Muar

Land leased out 16.4.1990 - sq metres -

Property leased out 16.4.1990 >50 sq metres -

Odeon Batu Pahat Property leased out 16.4.1990 >50 sq metres -

 

31.7.1992 sq metres -

building
15.7.1996 sq metres -

23.12.1986 sq metres - 300 

warehouse
12.7.1997 15 sq metres Leasehold

building
30.12.2001 7 sq metres Leasehold
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Location

Description &
existing use of 
properties

Date of
acquisition/
revaluation

Age of
buildings
in years Land area Tenure

Year of
expiry

Net book
value at

31.12.2013
RM'000

building 
13.11.1984
18.6.1987
15.3.1989

30 sq metres Leasehold

building
6.12.1999 10 sq metres Leasehold

Vacant agricultural 
land

9.3.1996 - sq metres Leasehold 2017 13 

building
17.5.2004 sq metres Leasehold

Property leased out 16.4.1990 > 50 sq metres Leasehold

Property leased out 16.4.1990 sq metres Leasehold 2110

building
10.10.1989 21 sq metres Leasehold 2032

building
19.10.2006 3 sq metres Leasehold

Warehouse & 24.07.2006 7 sq metres Leasehold

Land for future 
development

10.8.1996 - sq metres Leasehold

Land leased out 16.4.1990 57 sq metres Leasehold 2053

Land for future
development

16.4.1990 - sq metres Leasehold 152 

building
26.1.2007
3.4.2007

5 sq metres Leasehold 2037
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Voting Rights

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

           No. of
         Holders

             % of
        Holders

           No. of
         % of
      Issued

Less than 100  0.00 

 355  3.55 

5% and above of issued shares  3  0.03 

 100.00  100.00 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
Direct Interest  Deemed Interest

           No. of
           % of
        Issued             No. of

         % of
      Issued

 0.01  0.10 

 0.00  0.00 

  

                   -                    -  0.10 

 

                   -                    -

                   -                 -

                   -                 -

 

                   -                    -  0.27 

related corporations.     
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Direct Interest Deemed Interest

No. of
% of

Issued No. of
% of

Issued No. of
% of

Issued

7.17 - - 7.17 

THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 
(as per Record of Depositors)

        No. of
         % of
      Issued

 1.

 2.
For Employees Provident Fund Board

 3.

 5.

 3.00 

 7.
Exempt AN
For Credit Suisse (SG BR-TST-Asing)

 2.00 

For Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera

 10.
Exempt AN
For State Street Bank & Trust Company (West CLTOD67)

 1.13 

 11.
Exempt AN
For Morgan Stanley & Co. International PLC (Client)

 1.13 

 12.
For Amanah Saham Malaysia

 1.07 

 13.

BBH and Co Boston
For Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund
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        No. of
         % of
      Issued

 15.
Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd
For Sin Heng Chan (1960) Pte Ltd

For Amanah Saham Wawasan 2020
 0.75 

 17.
GIC Private Limited
For Government of Singapore (C)

CBNY
For Dimensional Emerging Markets Value Fund

 0.72 

Exempt AN
For UOB Kay Hian (Hong Kong) Limited - A/C Clients

 20.
Exempt AN
For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (U.S.A.)

 21.  0.50 

 22. Ophir Holdings Berhad

 23.
BNY Brussels
For Market Vectors - Agribusiness ETF

For As 1Malaysia

 25.
Exempt AN
For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (U.A.E.)

 27.

Exempt AN
For The Bank Of New York Mellon (Mellon Acct)

 0.35 

Exempt AN
For AIA Bhd

0.30

 30.  0.30 

 968,162,879  81.67 



ANIMAL FEED  
MANUFACTURING

FFM Berhad

 
                           (GM- Group Feed &  
                            Livestock)

 
Johor Bahru Flour Mill Sdn Bhd

  

                           (D/GM)

FFM (Sabah) Sdn Bhd

 

                           (D)

FFM Feedmills (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd

Pending Industrial Estate

 

                           (D/GM)

BAKERY

The Italian Baker Sdn Bhd
Factory

 
                           (Factory Manager)

CHEMICALS MANUFACTURING

Malayan Adhesives & Chemicals  
Sdn Bhd

  
                           (D)

CINEMA OPERATIONS

Golden Screen Cinemas Sdn Bhd

 
                           (GM)

CONSUMER PRODUCTS  
DISTRIBUTION

FFM Marketing Sdn Bhd

 
                       (MD)

CONTRACT MANUFACTURING

Products Manufacturing Sdn Bhd

 
                       (D)

FILM DISTRIBUTION

GSC Movies Sdn Bhd

 
                           (GM)

FLOUR MILLING

FFM Berhad

 

                       (MD)

Johor Bahru Flour Mill Sdn Bhd

 
                       (D/GM)

Vietnam Flour Mills Ltd

 
                       (General Director)

FFM Flour Mills (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd

 
                       (D/GM)

PT Pundi Kencana

Indonesia

 
                       (President Director)
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POLYBAG MANUFACTURING 
Tego Sdn Bhd &
Tego Multifil Sdn Bhd

 
                       (MD)

Tefel Packaging Industries Co., Ltd

 
                       (D)

PROPERTY INVESTMENT &  
DEVELOPMENT 

PPB Group Berhad (Property Division) 
PPB Hartabina Sdn Bhd 

 
                           (COO)

Cathay Screen Cinemas Sdn Bhd

 

                           (M)

Seletar Sdn Bhd

 
                           (GM)

M      -
D      -
GM    -
MD    -

Manager
Director
General Manager
Managing Director

FOOD PROCESSING

FFM Further Processing Sdn Bhd 

 

                       (D/GM)

IT SERVICES

Easi (M) Sdn Bhd

 
                           (GM)

LIVESTOCK FARMING

FFM Farms Sdn Bhd

 
                       (GM)

PLANTATIONS AND 
EDIBLE OILS

Wilmar International Limited

 

                       (Head of Investor Relations)

WASTE MANAGEMENT &  
ENVIRONMENTAL
ENGINEERING

CWM Group Sdn Bhd

 

                           (CEO)

Beijing CQ Environmental  
Management Consultancy Services 
Co. Ltd

1 Guang Hua Road

 
                           (Financial Controller)

Sitamas Environmental Systems  
Sdn Bhd

 
                           (GM)

AWS Sales & Services Sdn Bhd

Prai Industrial Estate

 
                           (GM)
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AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

                                                                                                                           (Resolution 1)

December 2013 as recommended by the Directors.                                (Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)
  (See Explanatory Note 1)

 (Resolution 4)
(Resolution 5)

                       (Resolution 6)

 

   (See Explanatory Note 2)                  (Resolution 7)

                         (Resolution 8)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

that the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional 

     (See Explanatory Note 3)                   (Resolution 9)
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(Resolution 10)
(Resolution 11)

 

  (See Explanatory Note 4)

10.
  

(Resolution 12)

  (See Explanatory Note 5)

NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE AND DATE OF DIVIDEND PAYMENT

                          By Order of the Board

Company Secretary

Others
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EXPLANATORY NOTES

SPECIAL BUSINESS

arising from such issue.
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